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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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Since the middle of 2021, COVID-19 Omicron virus spread
around the world. The virus spread into Hong Kong in early 2022,
and then spread across Hong Kong. After that, some areas in
China were also inevitably affected, though these areas have
performed exceptionally well in implementing pandemic
prevention and control measures. Lockdown and production
suspension had lasted for more than two months in various
important economic areas, such as Shenzhen, Dongguan,
Zhejiang and Shanghai. This has caused tremendous impacts on
our industry which extremely relies on manpower for production.
Up to now, general logistics between China and Hong Kong is
still unable to resume usual operations.

The market closure and production suspension in China as well
as the Russia-Ukraine war have caused surging prices and
excessive inflation. Moreover, the population mobility in China
was restricted by pandemic prevention and control measures, so
there was also shortage of manpower for production. These
adverse factors have caused serious impacts on the profitability
of the Group. It’s expected that the consumer sentiment of
customers would also become weak as the cycle of raising
interest rate begins. Therefore, we are also not so optimistic on
our performance in the coming year. We are more moderate and
conservative on our performance.

Furthermore, in order to mitigate the risks of reliance on
production of toys, the Group will also identify other investment
opportunities. For example, the Group has completed the
acquisition of project of DongYiQuan at the beginning of the year.
It aims to provide additional and relatively stable source of
revenue for the Group in addition to the design and production of
toys. Confronted with the tough business environment affecting
various industries, we still hope we will be able to create some
profits for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER W R DA

Business Review

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in design, marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys
and related products.

Sales of original design manufacturer (“ODM”) toys
The sales of ODM toys has significantly dropped due to the
COVID-19 pandemic effect on manufacturing which had caused
disruption to production and supply chains across the globe, but
the sales of ODM toys continues to account for the largest
portion of the sales business of the Group. The Group’s two
major customers, namely Sentinel Japan and Wing Co., Ltd.,
have worked with us for over 11 years and 15 years respectively,
representing the primary revenue source of the sales of ODM
toys. During the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), revenue
from sales of ODM toys decreased by approximately 19.6% to
approximately HK$107,749,000 (2021: approximately
HK$134,054,000). The production in Mainland China has
clamped down since the COVID-19 pandemic which started from
2020, where many suppliers rushed to limit production activity.
As China seeks to maintain its zero-Covid strategy, the
production was brought to a halt unless absolutely necessary.
Electricity and water supply failures caused a decline in the
production capacity of suppliers in Mainland China. In addition,
same as the Prior Year, the scarcity of containers in the right
locations in many ports caused heavy vessel delays, missed
sailings and limitation on volumes that could be loaded which
affected the shipment in the Year.

The profit margin of the sales of ODM toys has declined by
approximately 25.5%, which was decrease from 14.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (“Prior Year”) to 11.1% for the Year
due to the same reason in Prior Year, with the increment of labour
and raw material costs passed on by our suppliers to the Group
during the Year being the main reason for the decrease of the
overall gross profit margin for the Year.

6 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022

3 JE1)

BEREEZEBEAERAR ([RAF]) THRIEFF
SEHERARE(BE)NHAERSEMKIL
MARRR - ARBREMBRR ([AEE])
ZEBEBRZE EH DHELATETAR
MHRAEmM -

HERRTHRE (fODM]) ;A

BRI EHREENTEESRRIREE
M E S T - ODM It B §5 & K i@ T B¢ - /2 ODM
MAHENERERFEEEBNZERBD - K
EEOMEBEERF - TEMRAB A & Wing Co.,
Ltd. 77 Bl B A LB 4 E@ 114 & 155 - BODM
MAMETENRERR - REE-S ==
ZA=+—BLEFE(KRFE])  #HEODM
LA 7 Wz R 4919.6% = #£9107,749,000/5
T (=& = — 4 :49134,054,0005 7T ) ° 8 ¥
BREBR_Z_EFEEE PRAMEER
BERARRE REHEEHORG EETH -
BN ES K FEHNEE T  FLRE
HUNEMEEZIN HMWEEBHEF-KE
Ak R 1 5 28 B B0 P b L R PR EE B T B4 o LRSI
HEFEHAR BREBEOQEMIERBER
BYPREMBLEE RMRAIEHEXR 7
BARFEMHME-

HMEFHR NFEREFBL T REMBK
I RER T AEE SHEEODMITAR
MR T EH255% HEE T -_—F= A
—+—HLEFE(IEF])14.9% THEEARF
B111% WHAFEERBENETRENES



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Distribution of imported toys and related products
The high-end robot figures is continuously top-dollar growth
category in the revenue from distribution of imported toys and
related products in the Year. Several hot-selling high-end robot
figures were released and delivered which strongly push up the
sales of the segment in the year. The revenue from this segment
has increased by approximately 13.5% to HK$50,264,000 (2021:
approximately HK$44,297,000) during the Year.

Sales of own licensed toys and related products

The Group applied the “SENTINEL/ F{E#R”, “TOPI” and “FLAME
TOYS” brands in developing our own licensed toys and related
products over the years. After continuous hard work on building
up the own licensed toys in years, there was a sharp increase in
the sales of the segment. A number of hot-selling high-end robot
figures were released and delivered in the Year, leading to the
increase in revenue from sales of own licensed toys and related
products during the Year by 76.6%, to approximately
HK$58,472,000 (2021: approximately HK$33,116,000).

Financial Analysis

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of
and accepts the products. Revenue is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue increased by approximately 2.4% to approximately
HK$216,485,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$211,467,000 for the Prior Year. The increase in revenue was
mainly due to the rapid increase in sales of own licensed toys
and related products and distribution of imported toys and
related products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER W R DA

Cost of sales

Our Group’s cost of sales, incurred from the ODM toys,
distribution of imported toys and related products and own
licensed toys and related products comprising of (i) production
costs of related products; (i) license fee; (i) depreciation of mould
and (iv) others.

Cost of sales increased by approximately 4.7% to approximately
HK$181,612,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$173,503,000 for the Prior Year. The increase of cost of sales
is in line with the increase of revenue.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by approximately 8.1% to approximately
HK$34,873,000 for the Year from approximately HK$37,964,000
for the Prior Year. The gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 16.1% for the Year from approximately 18.0% for
the Prior Year. The decrease in gross profit margin is mainly due
to the increase of labour and raw materials costs, which led to
the increase of the cost of ODM toys and own licensed toys and
related products.

Other income, net

Other income, net decreased by approximately 29.8% to
approximately HK$4,546,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$6,477,000 for the Prior Year.

The decrease was mainly due to the Group received government
grants in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies in the Prior Year,
which was ceased in the Year.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses comprises (i) advertising; (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary of staff; (iii) freight,
postage and delivery; (iv) commission expense for our
consignment sales; and (v) other selling and distribution
expenses. Selling expenses increased by approximately 45.2%
from approximately HK$5,649,000 for the Prior Year to
approximately HK$8,200,000 for the Year, mainly due to the
increase in the online marketing expenses on social media
platforms; and the expenses on Ani-Com & Games Hong Kong
incurred in the Year, which was cancelled in the Prior Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consists of (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary and staff benefit
payable to our administrative department including our Directors;
(i) operating lease charges for land and building; (iii) travelling and
entertainment expenses; (iv) audit fee; (v) depreciation
expenses;(vi) legal and professional fee; (vii) insurance expenses
mainly in relation to product liability insurance; and (viii) other
administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 4.2% from
approximately HK$25,975,000 for the Prior Year to approximately
HK$27,068,000 for the Year. The increased expense was mainly
due to a discretionary bonus is given to Mr. Li Wai Keung to
reward his exceptional performance in the Year.

Finance costs

The finance costs arose from our bank loans and fees for
electronic payment transactions. Finance costs decreased by
approximately 44.9% to approximately HK$108,000 for the Year
from approximately HK$196,000 for the Prior Year. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in fees for electronic payment.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses were decreased by approximately 60.7%
to approximately HK$1,451,000 for the Year, as compared to
approximately HK$3,694,000 for the Prior Year.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 18
May 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and the acquisition as mentioned
under Events after the reporting date on pages 12 and 150 of
this report, the Group had no definite future plans for material
investments and capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER W R DA

Significant investments held

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is holding an investment of joint
venture which was formed in accordance with the joint venture
agreement entered into between Amuse Luck and Grand View
Protective Products Limited (“Grand View”) (the “Joint Venture
Agreement”) pursuant to which Amuse Luck and Grand View
agreed to jointly establish a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) in
Hong Kong owned as to 30% by Amuse Luck and 70% by
Grand View, which principally engages in manufacturing and sale
of protective products (including medical face masks, infrared
thermometer, disinfectant spray, protective clothing, etc.) in Hong
Kong and PRC markets.

In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement, Amuse Luck
and Grand View have invested in aggregate amount of HK$10
million to the Joint Venture for setting up the medical face masks
production lines in proportion to their respective shareholdings, in
which Amuse Luck contributed HK$3 million to the Joint Venture
and Grand View is responsible for the costs of medical face
masks production equipment, its installation and the plant
renovation which amount to approximately HK$7 million.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings divided by total equity at the respective reporting
date. As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 0.02 times, while it was 0.02 times as at 31 March
2021. The Group’s financial position is sound and strong. With
available bank balances and cash, the Group has sufficient
liquidity to satisfy its funding requirements.

1 O Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Certain trade receivables, bank balances and trade payables are
denominated in foreign currency of the respective group entities
which are exposed to foreign currency risk. Although part of the
Group’s revenue and cost are in U.S. Dollar (“USD”) and
Japanese Yen, the Group does not expect any significant
movement in the USD and Japanese Yen exchange rate. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Charge on the Group’s assets

At 31 March 2022, the Group’s building with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$6,069,000 were mortgaged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (81 March 2021:
HK$6,246,000).

Information on employees

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 41 employees (31 March
2021: 39) working in Hong Kong. Employees are remunerated
according to their performance and work experience. On top of
basic salary, commission, discretionary bonus and share option
may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. The total staff
cost (including remuneration of the Directors and mandatory
provident funds contributions) for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$15,852,000 (2021: approximately
HK$14,301,000).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER W R DA

Use of Proceeds

The ordinary share(s) of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed
on GEM on 31 May 2018. The net proceeds from the listing of
the Shares on GEM (the “Listing”) (after deducting the
underwriting fees and related expenses) amounted to
approximately HK$57.9 million which has already been fully
utilised. The proceeds from the Listing were applied as follows:

FrERERR

ApmEak (ko) R=_F—-N\FAA
=t+—HHEGEM L BHRGEM £ ([ L
1) S FORFE (MR B & M XA
1% ) #) /357,900,000 7T - B EEHER - £
MAAERRERERDT :

Actual amount Unutilised

Total planned utilised up to balance as at
amount toused 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
Bz-—ZT——
ZA=+—-B R=B=Z
LtEFEAN =A=+-—8
SEIFERAESE ERLE HREALH
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Expanding our product portfolio of own &K B KTt A & 46,200 46,200 -
licensed toys and related products HHEERNERES
Enhancing our overseas distribution RIBIND AL 3,600 3,600 -
network
Further strengthening our manpower — # — #1238 A &R 6,000 6,000 -
Further enhancing our information E—PHEEMBHER 2,100 2,100 -
technology system and performing GRETTREEE
warehouse renovation
Total #@Et 57,900 57,900 -
Contingent Liabilities RAREE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2021 Nil).

Event After Reporting Period

Acaquisition of 30% of the issued share capital of
DongYiQuan

The Board is eyeing on an increasing prevalence of smart home
technology and rising public awareness on elderly care in the
PRC. Particularly, the PRC government’s fourteenth five-year
plan for 2021-2025 has stressed the importance of developing
smart elderly care services and favourable policies are being
promulgated to foster the application of advanced technology in
enhancing senior-friendly products and services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 31 December 2021, Amuse Luck Limited (the “Purchaser”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
memorandum of understanding (the "MOU”) with Chu Guigui (#&
FEFE) (the “Vendor A”) and Zhu Rongzheng (4881 (the “Vendor
B”) in relation to a possible acquisition (the “Possible Acquisition”)
of all or part of the equity interests in DongYiQuan Network
Technology Co., Ltd., (‘“DongYiQuan”) by the Group.

DongYiQuan is an investment holding company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and, through its
subsidiaries, is a high-tech enterprise focusing on the
development and application of smart health care industry
solutions. It is principally engaged in the provision of smart health
care products and service systems with a vision of “cloud
platform, smart hardware and smart service” in the PRC.

On 25 April 2022, the Vendors and the Purchaser, entered into
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell to the Purchaser, and
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase from the
Vendors, the Sale Shares, representing 30% of the issued share
capital of DongYiQuan.

The Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement took place
on 5 May 2022. Upon the Completion, the Consideration in the
sum of HK$10,000,000 was fully settled and discharged by the
allotment and issue a total of 192,307,692 new Shares,
representing approximately 16.13% of the issued share capital of
the Company (as enlarged by the issue of the Consideration
Shares), have been duly allotted and issued as fully paid to the
nominee of Vendor A (Chu Guigui* (#& £ #£)), namely Ms. Lin
Weiyi* (M 1Z &) (“Vendor A's Nominee”), and the nominee of
Vendor B (Zhu Rongzheng* (4 281K)), namely Mr. Liu Jun* (211%)
(“Vendor B’s Nominee”), respectively, at the Issue Price of
HK$0.052 each under the General Mandate. As confirmed by the
Vendors and their respective nominees, and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after having made all
reasonable enquiries, each of the Vendors, Vendor A’'s Nominee
and Vendor B’s Nominee is an Independent Third Party, save for
their respective interest in the Consideration Shares.

BEEEN W R DA

RZE_—F+_A=+—HB XRFAHK
2EMBARIMAHARAR(IER])H
BEEE(TEFTARKEB([EAB])5E
AEBTRRKEB ([T KRBER])
DongYiQuan Network Technology Co., Ltd
([DongYiQuan |) & & sk & 7 IR 7] 7 —
AT ([ ESEE]) -

DongYiQuan &7 % & # 8 2 B S st it A 2 79
WEERBRAG RERENBAR AZF
FRFAEBERERASEREERTERATR
MEHEMCE - EX2RFEYERHEEE
REEEEMMRBRES RABEEAIZEF
8 BEBPHRESERE] -

RZEZZFWNAZ+RHA -BEHHEBFEIL
BEEWE Bt BEHAK 1¢H%m“§'ﬁﬂj%
MERERHEREREZESBEEHERN (4
DongYiQuan B, 8 4TAR AN #J30% ) °

BEWMBER - E-_—_FRHARARK AR
A % - (8 #£5H10,000,000/% 7T B 8 18 Ad 38 &
176 $£192,307,602% 7 3% 7 89 77 X B HUE
EBRIZMF -ZEHBRHO BERARRRE BT
A (EETRERNEKNE)RH16.13%)
BIRE — MR E R 1T E T R0.0528 T 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEER W R DA

Set out below for illustrative purposes is the shareholding LA NE{FI AR B () B8 2RCAT M (i) B EE 25K
structure of the Company (i) immediately before the Completion; & 2 M&HEZRHE - LA SRR ik -
and (i) immediately after the Completion.

(i) Immediately before the (i) Immediately after the
Completion Completion
(i) EHEEF AT (i) EBET A&
No. of Shares approx.%  No. of Shares approx.%

BO#E  #BHaskt BRO#E  #HOESK

Infinite Force Holdings Ltd. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd.

(Note 1) (ftatt1) 180,800,000 18.08% 180,800,000 15.16%
Vendor A’s Nominee FEHARREA - - 144,230,769 12.10%
Vendor B’s Nominee EHBHWRAA - - 48,076,923 4.03%
Other public Shareholders Hi A RBRR 819,200,000 81.92% 819,200,000 68.71%
Total et 1,000,000,000 100.00% 1,192,307,692 100.00%

Note 1: Infinite Force Holdings Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 18 [ffz#7 : Infinite Force Holdings Ltd. (—f R = — /R F +

October 2016 and an investment holding company, is wholly and ATt \BRABHEB RS MK 2 REERK
beneficially owned by Mr. Li Wai Keung who is the chairman and an RABERAREERBTEETFTEREELEE
executive Director of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Li Wai Keung is deemed A o At - 2 & 58 % £ B F5 A Infinite Force
to be interested in the 180,800,000 Shares held by Infinite Force Holdings Holdings Ltd. &) & &8 i& # ify # 47 /3 7 Infinite Force
Ltd. by virtue of his 100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force Holdings Holdings Ltd. 5 /& #180,800,0000% i% 7 # # & #
Ltd.. 2
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Z{&3&), aged 42, is a founder of our Group.
He is the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), a
controlling Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and
an executive Director. He is currently responsible for overall
business development as well as financial and strategic planning
of our Group. Mr. Liis also a director of each of the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Li has over 16 years of experience
in the ACG toy industry in Hong Kong. Prior to establishing our
Group, Mr. Li worked at L. Y. Creative Co., Limited, which was a
company engaged in toy industry, from November 2002 to April
2004, with his last position as project engineer. Subsequently,
from May 2004 to July 2004, he worked as a project engineer at
Hutchison Harbour Ring Co., Limited, which was a company
engaged in toy industry. In September 2004, he, among others,
established Bestone Creative for designing and manufacturing
toys on ODM basis. In December 2008, Mr. Li, among others,
established Sentinel Hong Kong with the aim to developing and
distributing its own licensed toys of ACG characters. Mr. Li
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Mechanical
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 2001.

Mr. Li did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. TO Hoi Pan (#:383#), aged 48, is an executive Director and
the company secretary of our Company. He is currently
responsible for (i) the financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury and financial control and company secretarial matters;
and (i) the overall business development of our Group. Mr. To has
over 21 years of experience in the field of accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining our Group, he worked as
chief financial officer at Opes Asia Development Limited (Stock
code: 810) (currently known as China Internet Investment Finance
Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. To joined our Group as a chief
financial officer in March 2016, and was appointed as our
company secretary in March 2017.

Mr. To obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the University of Wollongong in Australia in
December 1999. Mr. To is currently a certified practising
accountant of the CPA Australia and a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

EERSREEAEHN
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% 1) Hutchison Harbour Ring Co., Limited T B
HEIRM- R_ZZEWFNA K (EHE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

BEERSREBAEHN

Mr. To did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong (Z#£5), aged 36, is an executive Director
and our general manager. Ms. Lee joined our Group in August
2006 and was promoted to general manager in November 2011.
Ms. Lee is mainly responsible for managing the general
operations of our Group.

Ms. Lee did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (Z=8315), age 29, was appointed
as an Non-executive Director on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Lee is currently serving as wealth management manager at
AlIA International Limited. From 2018 to 2020, Mr. Lee was
employed as general manager and chief financial officer in
Shenzhen Guiyin technology Co. Ltd* (R YI T &R EHEBR A
A]). From 2016 to 2017, Mr. Lee was employed as deputy
general manager in Zhongshan Jiahai Import & Export Trade Co.
Ltd* (LR /E8E L O E 5 ERAA). He obtained a
bachelor’s degree of Arts (Hons) in Politics with International
Relations from the University of York in England in 2018.

Mr. Lee did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. WEI Qing (% &), aged 45, was appointed as an Non-
executive Director on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Wei is currently serving as the manager of Shenzhen Hongji
Taifu Asset Management Co, Ltd* (&I A EREEEE RS
fR A |]) and the manager of Xuyong County Moni Impression
Hotel Management Co., Ltd* (RUK B EREKBIEEEBR QD
7). From October 2008 to June 2017, Mr. Wei was employed as
supervisor in Xuyong County Huayi Construction Engineering Co.
Ltd* (RUKEEREZL TR AR A ELRF]). From 1998 to 2008,
Mr. Wei was employed by Luzhou Municipal Transport Bureau
Toll Road and Bridge Management Office* (J& M 7 32 38 /B U & &
BERR).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Wei did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. CHU Wai Tak (K {£7&), aged 44. was appointed as an
Non-executive Director on 1 December 2021.

Mr. Chu has been serving as director of operations at Sanwa
Biotech Limited (“Sanwa”) from September 2019 to present. Mr.
Chu is responsible for optimizing operations efficiency and
provides support to Sanwa’s growth strategies. He obtained a
bachelor of science degree in Biochemistry from Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2001. Mr. Chu is a
patent holder on Apparatus and Method for Pyrolysis of Scrap
Tyres and the Like (US Patent 8,020,499 B2).

From November 2013 to September 2019, Mr. Chu was
employed as head of operations in QIAGEN Shenzhen Co., Ltd
(“QIAGEN Shenzhen”), where he was in charge of managing the
operations of manufacturing facilities of QIAGEN Shenzhen. He
was also appointed as associate director of QIAGEN Shenzhen
in April 2014. From April 2010 to November 2013, Mr. Chu was
employed as product and change implementation manager in
QIAGEN Shenzhen.

Mr. Chu did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. YU Ziyi (R F#), age 27, was appointed as an non-
executive Director on 1 February 2021 and resigned on 9 June
2021.

From July 2019 to July 2020, Mr. Yu was employed as valuation
associate in PSA (HK) Surveyors Limited. From January 2018 to
October 2018, Mr. Yu was employed as private equity analyst in
Fairway America LLC. He obtained a bachelor’s degree of
Economics in international Business and Economics from Jiangxi
Normal University in Nanchang, the PRC in July 2016 and a
master’s degree of Science in Finance from Southern Methodist
University in Dallas, the United States of America in May 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

BEERSREBAEHN

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Pui Hang (& ’f1€), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 May 2018. He is
primarily responsible for bringing an independent judgment to
ensure the continuing effectiveness of the management of our
Company. Mr. Yu is the chairman of our remuneration committee
and a member of our audit committee and corporate governance
committee.

Mr. Yu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from the King’s
College London of the University of London in the United
Kingdom in July 2001. Mr. Yu was admitted to practice law as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2004 and in England and Wales
in April 2005. Mr. Yu was appointed as the honorary legal advisor
to the Hong Kong Federation of Invention and Innovation in July
2017, the honorary legal advisor to the Institute of Financial
Technologies of Asia in January 2018 and the honorary legal
advisor to The GHM-Greater Bay Area TECHFIN Association in
May 2018. Mr. Yu has also qualifies as a Certified Financial
Technologist in 2020.

Mr. Yu worked as assistant solicitor at Kennedys from July 2004
to August 2005. From November 2005 to October 20086, he
worked as an associate at a Hong Kong office of Norton Rose
(Services) Limited. He then worked as an associate at Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer from November 2006 to July 2010. Mr. Yu
then worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited from July
2010 to December 2015 with his last position as executive
director, associate general counsel of legal department. Mr. Yu
has been one of the founding partners of the law firm, L&Y Law
Office since January 2016. He has also been the sole proprietor
of the law firm, Henry Yu & Associates since March 2018.

Mr. Yu has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Amuse Group Holding Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8545) since May 2018 and an independent non-executive
director of Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8512) from July 2018 to November 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yu did not hold other directorship
in any other listed or public companies, of which the securities
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years.

Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice (B &), aged 39,
independent non-executive Director. She is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct. Ms. Chow obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Auckland in
New Zealand in May 2004. She subsequently obtained a degree
of Master of Commerce in Finance from The University of New
South Wales in Australia in September 2005. She has become a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2010. Ms. Chow has over 15
years of experience in the auditing and financial management
industry. Ms. Chow worked as graduate accountant in audit
division at Stirling SCI, chartered accountants, from July 2004 to
May 2005. From September 2005 to December 2007, she
worked at Wong Lam Leung & Kwok C.P.A Limited, with her last
position as accountant Il. She subsequently joined Moore
Stephens Associates Limited in Hong Kong as audit assistant in
January 2008 and worked until September 2012, with her last
position as an audit supervisor. From February 2013 to July
2016, she worked as assistant finance manager at Boer Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1685), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From October
2016 to December 2016, she was employed by Sky Business
Consultants Limited as consulting manager. From January 2017
to February 2021, Ms. Chow served as the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of REM Group (Holdings) Limited
(“REM Group” (stock code:1750), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).

is an

Ms. Chow did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERSREEAERNT

Ms. REN Hongyan ({EAL#), age 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 February 2021.

Ms. Ren has over 10 years of experience in real estate investment
and development, real estate finance, and has a comprehensive
understanding of the real estate market to seek valuable business
projects for companies. She has participated in many domestic
factoring cases and provided small and medium-sized enterprises
with professional financial services integrated tailor-made
accounts receivable financing, credit guarantees, and supply
chain financial management.

Since October 2019, Ms. Ren co-founded Quanjingtong
Emergency Transport (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (7 Il & 15 38 88 42
fi% %= @ & BR /A &) of which its principal businesses are the
investment in pension projects and medical projects, import and
export of goods and technologies, medical information
consultation and internet of things technology development.

From October 2020 to December 2020, Ms. Ren served as the
independent non-executive director of Solis Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2227). Between August 2016 and September 2019,
Ms. Ren was appointed as the director of Shenzhen Hongji Taifu
Asset Management Co., Ltd* (YT A EREEEETEERA
7)) and between January 2015 and July 2016, she was the
deputy general manager of Huacheng Yintong Commercial
Factoring Co., Ltd* (ZEHRBE ERIBBR A F).

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ren did not hold other directorship
in any other listed or public companies, of which the securities as
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years.

Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (28 E 1), aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2021.

Ms. Kwok has over 10 years of experience in Shanghai real
estate development. From May 2005 to 2013, Ms Kwok was
appointed as the director of Welchem Development Limited of
which its principal business is property investment. It was a
subsidiary of eCyberChina Holdings Limited, which was publicly
traded under the stock code 00254 at that time.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

From 2013 to present, Ms. Kwok has been serving as the
director of Precise Time International Ltd, being primarily in
charge of consultant referral services.

Ms. Kwok did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Company Secretary

Mr. TO Hoi Pan, the chief financial officer of the Company, was
appointed as company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) in March 2017. The biographical details of Mr. To are
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

Senior Management

Ms. FU Man Yin (88 &), aged 36, has joined our Group since
July 2014 and was promoted to marketing manager in March
2016. She is mainly responsible for overseeing the sales and
marketing activities of our Group. She obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2009.

Prior joining our Group, Ms. Fu has accumulated experience in
marketing in Hong Kong through her employment at Konishi M&E
Limited as sales coordinator from August 2009 to April 2012 and
BB Technology Limited as assistant to director from August 2013
to December 2013.

Ms. Fu did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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The Company is committed in maintaining high standards of
corporate governance (“CG”). The Board believes that
commitment in CG practices will definitely benefit the
Shareholders in long term. During the Year, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules in force at
that time.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding the
interests of the Shareholders and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve the
CG practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated
in a proper and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices,
the following actions were taken in 2022:

— Appointment of non-executive Directors with appropriate
management experience to further broaden the collective
knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”) with appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience with
regulatory entitles to further broaden the collective
knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— All members of the audit committee of the Company (“Audit
Committee”) are INEDs and at least one of them has
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management experience.

— To adopt Board diversity policy to recognise and embrace
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing, as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (“the
Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Following specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions during the Year.

The Board

The Board focuses on the overall strategic development and is
also responsible for monitoring the financial performance, risk
management and the internal controls of the Group. With a wide
range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs bring
independent judgement on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and committees work.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the
Report of the Directors on pages 35 to 46 of this annual report.
All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the
annual general meeting. Retiring Directors are eligible for
reelection and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general
meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and put
forward to the Board by the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) as more fully explained
below under the section on Nomination Committee of this annual
report.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board has three executive
Directors; three Non-executive Directors; and four INEDs, as
shown on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report. Biographies of
the Company’s Directors are shown on pages 15 to 21 of this
annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interest of all
shareholders and subject matters are considered objectively. The
Board considers all of the INEDs to be independent. INEDs have
accounted for 40% of the full Board.

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
The Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”) is Mr. LI Wai Keung.

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied with the CG Code,
except for the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code. Mr. Li is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer and
he has been managing the Group’s business and supervising the
overall operations of the Group since 2004. The Directors
consider that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in Mr. Li is beneficial to the management and
business development of the Group and will provide a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group. The Board will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is appropriate and
suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s business, including
relevant rules and regulations. During the Year, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision A.6.5 contained in the CG Code.
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All of the Directors have also provided to the Company their
records of training attended or fulfilment of ongoing development
for the Year, the information of which has been entered in the
register of directors’ training records maintained and updated by
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the Company from time to time. The following summarises the
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compliance status of all Directors in respect of code provision

A.6.5 during the Year:

In compliance

with Code
A.6.5
Al
Name of Directors EENE FA6.5(5
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) TEEEE (FERTHAEE) v
Mr. To Hoi Pan M 5t 4 v
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong THEFLL v
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (appointed on 30 September ~ ZBAB LA (RS- —FNA=THEZT) v
2021)
Mr. Wei Qing (appointed on 30 September 2021) REAE(RZZEZ—FNA=THEZT) v
Mr. Chu Wai Tak (appointed on 1 December 2021) REEEE( 50:2: F+_A—HEZME) v
Mr. Yu Ziyi (appointed on 1 February 2021 and resigned RfeEE (RZT—FF—HEZER v
on 9 June 2021) A\ —FXANBEHE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FmiELE 4
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice B e+ v
Ms. Ren Hongyan (R v
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (appointed on 1 December 2021) BERZLT (RZEZ—F+A—AEZME) v
Role and Responsibilities of the Board EEgvBERER
The Board delegated appropriate aspects of its managementand E=EZEHEEEERITHBERTERE KA

administrative functions to management. It also give clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the matters that management must report back and

FEHRRIHELEM A NESS

obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board
established three committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Board Process

All the Directors are regularly updated on the governance and
regulatory matters. There is an established procedure for
Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company in the furtherance of their duties. The
Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer
liability insurance to cover any potential legal actions that might
be taken against its Directors.

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to review the
overall strategies and monitor the operations as well as the
financial performance of the Group. Notice of at least 14 days
has been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and
the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board paper in respect of regular Board meetings
are despatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time
before the meeting. Directors have to declare their direct or
indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at Board meetings and abstain from
voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior
to confirmation.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free
access to board paper and related materials, enabling the Board
to make informed decision on matters place before. During the
Year and up to the date of this report, ten Board meetings were
held and the attendance details are as follows:
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Board meeting

attended
during the
period covered
under this
annual report
EAFHREE
MEIEHE
Name of Directors EENE MESEge
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) TRBEE(FRERTHAEH) 8/10
Mr. To Hoi Pan g T 10/10
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong FEFRLT 10/10
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (appointed on 30 September ~ ZBAB LA (RS- —FNA=THEZT) 8/10
2021)
Mr. Wei Qing (appointed on 30 September 2021) REXE(RZZZ—FNLA=TRHEZ{T) 8/10
Mr. Chu Wai Tak (appointed on 1 December 2021) KEEEE(RZEZ—F+A—HAEZMT) 4/10
Mr. Yu Ziyi (resigned on 9 June 2021) RFREE (RZEZ—FANAERT) 1/10
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FoELE 10/10
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice ARt 10/10
Ms. Ren Hongyan (AR g 10/10
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (appointed on 1 December 2021) BERLZLT (RZEZ—F+A—AEZT) 4/10
Board’s Committees EEZET

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Each of them has specific terms of reference to
consider matters relating to specific areas and to advise the
Board on such matters. INEDs play a significant role in these
committees to ensure that independent and objective views are
taken. The list of the Chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out on pages 28 to 30 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the Company’s financial information,
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the scope of audit and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of external
auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice (the Chairlady of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Ren Hongyan, all being
independent non-executive Directors. No member of the Audit
Committee is @ member of the former or existing independent
auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed this
annual report, including the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022,

According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least four times for a financial year. The Audit
Committee held a meeting 28 June 2022 (i) review and approve
the annual financial results in respect of the year ended 31 March
2022; (ii) discuss and consider the significant issues on the
financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems; and (i) review the appointment of external auditors and
relevant scope of works. The record of attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

EREES

BB IRGEM ET#i BI5%5.28%5.331& A R %
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AEEZMANRRR BB RE S
SIEHHEEER -

BERZESEREE=2KE BEASK KL
(BZZEQXF) FMEREREAHKLL
(BRBIIFNTES) MEBEELZZEEKE
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ZESCENAER BRAKERE-F
T oAt BHLEFEZREREARE

=
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BEBEEM BESHE sxE8g AN —EE
WEERNBITELARGZ -EREZEENZ
T FRNAZTHN\BRITEE () B &M
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B Mm%

Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HE RER

Name of members of the Audit Committee ERZEERERSR HEER
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice AR 2+t 4/4
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomiE % & 4/4
Ms. Ren Hongyan FaI Rz T 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. Yu Pui Hang (the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice and Ms.
Ren Hongyan, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure
none of the Directors or any of his/her associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) determine his/her own remuneration.

The record of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out as follows:
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Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HEEER

Name of members of the Remuneration Committee HFMZEEREHX B HEER
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomiE % & 2/2
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice JE 3 2+ 2/2
Ms. Ren Hongyan AR et 2/2

Details of emoluments of the Directors for the year are set out in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year in this
annual report (“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

The remuneration of member of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2022
is set out below:

BHREFRFAZHFMFEHRAFHRAR
FERAMBHHRER (RAMBREK])MES -

BE-_ZTZ-—_F=A=+—HILFE a8
BENEB (TEREES)REBES D Z2HMEK
IR N

Number of
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Remuneration bands FrENE AE
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. Ren Hongyan (the Chairlady of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least
annually; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of
Directors. Upon the establishment of the Nomination Committee,
the Board has adopted a policy of diversity of the Board.
Accordingly, selection of Board members should be based on a
range of diversified perspective, including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The record of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out as follows:

REZEE

FEEEIFE) RMEREREER L (19
RBUIERTESR) -

RAZBGZIERAERELIEFRIES
SRE RR - EAREZTIE MERERK
REFGXNEREEAL FPARBILIFNITE
EMBUM: KR EFZEXNENRENER
EHRABEFERLES RRIRERZESE
EFSCRMNESEXEZ TILBER At
BERZTICARREREZESTENE B
EFRRUER FR XERBEES FX
1B TRBE - IR S AR A AR AR

REZBEENBZHFEREHINMT

Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HE/AER

Name of members of the Nomination Committee EZZEEREHR S HEER
Ms. Ren Hongyan AR et 2/2
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomBEEE 2/2
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice B 2+ 2/2
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company conducts an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s simple
operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit
department, the Board is directly responsible for the
establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s system of
internal controls and risk management throughout the Year and
their effectiveness. The Company has engaged an external
independent professional advisory firm (the “Independent
Advisor”) to review the effectiveness and adequacy of risk
management and internal control systems in Year 2022 so as to
ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and
internal controls system. The Independent Advisor had reviewed
and analysed all material controls of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and their
associated risks. The relevant reports from the Independent
Advisor were presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board.

The Board considered the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.
The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programs and budget which are considered to be adequate for
the Year.

Dividend Policy

The Company formulated the Dividend Policy to set out the
principles for the Board to consider before making any dividend
distribution. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, included but not limited to: (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (i) working capital and debt level of the
Group; (jii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs;
and (iv) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

After considering the plan and proposal of the management, the
Board may, at its discretion, propose or decide to distribute
interim dividends. Final dividends shall be proposed to the
Shareholders for approval.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditors of
the Company, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, in respect of
audit services for the Year amounted to HK$780,000.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. The auditors are
responsible for forming an independent opinion, based on the
audit, on the financial statements prepared by the Directors and
reporting the opinion solely to the Shareholders. The Independent
Auditor’s Report is set out on pages 47 to 55 of this annual
report.

Investor and Shareholder Relation

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level of
transparency in communicating with Shareholders and the
investment community at large. Briefings and meetings with
institutional investors and analysts are conducted regularly. The
Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant regulatory requirements.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate communications
of the Company are made available on the Company’s website at
http://www.amusegroupholding.com and updated regularly on a
timely basis.

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ right and
all shareholders are treated equally and fairly. The Company will
announce and publish its quarterly, interim and annual results in a
timely manner, which is well before the time limits set out in the
GEM Listing Rules. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the
general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including
the re- election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
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The Company regards the annual general meeting as an
important event in which the Chairman and all Directors will make
an effort to attend. External auditors shall also be invited to
attend the Company’s annual general meeting and are also
available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from
Shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and content of the auditors’ report. All Shareholders
are given prior notice on a timely basis together with a detailed
agenda. The Board, according to the GEM Listing Rules, will
conduct voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(“AGM”) by poll. The results of the Company will be declared at
the meeting, and announced timely on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting.

Any Shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or
more of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled
to request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary
general meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall
issue a notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days
and hold an extraordinary general meeting within two months
from the receipt of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt
of such request the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the Shareholder(s) proposing to convene an
extraordinary general meeting in writing may himself/herself
(themselves) convene an extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquires to the
Board

Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the
equity interests of the Company (e.g. by proving shareholding
documents etc.). The Company suggests Shareholders should
submit their enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and
mail) and provide sufficient contact details so that the Company
can process their enquiries in a proper and timely manner.
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Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means: A% 5 7] 3% 3@ LA T 5 =0 B AKX BB 22

Address: Flat A-C, 3A/F., Metex House ok HE
24-32 Fui Yiu Kok Street MREE
Tsuen Wan, New Territories IRE BH24-325%
Hong Kong FEERESAEACE
Email: info@amusegroupholding.com BEH info@amusegroupholding.com
Tel No.: (852) 3702 3276 TEEE . (852) 3702 3276
Fax No.: (852) 3959 0091 EES:  (852) 3959 0091
Corporate Governance Functions EERBEE
The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate ZEE€/BASETT N XFE D EE AR
governance function as set out below: BE
— To develop and review the Company’s policies and — #IERBHAQRRNBBELEEGORER
practices on corporate governance; NEHR
— To review and monitor the training and continuous — M NEREFELGREEBNEIIL
professional development of Directors and senior RESERE:
management;
— To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices — il RERAANRBEBEIEZLEEHRT
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; HE R RER
— To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and — HIE - EFREREANEE MEENTT
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; BTRIREHRFM: &
and
— To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code — M®Bi AR alEEARTIMNBETER
and disclosure in the corporate governance report. TEERRENBEZEB -
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The Board is pleased to present this report and the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Corporate Reorganisation

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 16 November 2016. In preparing for the Listing,
the Company became the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group which had underwent the
Reorganisation (as defined in the Prospectus).

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the Year.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the Year is provided in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 14 of this annual report. The Group’s risk
management and internal control system is provided in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Code” on pages 22 to
34 of this annual report.

Compliance With the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the Year.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 56 to 60 of this
annual report. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend and resolved not to declare any final dividend in respect
of the Year (2021: Nil).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 152 of this annual
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 24.2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s accumulated loss is
approximately HK$40,175,000, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s reserves
available for distribution was approximately HK$138,000 in the
Prior Year.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in note 24.1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 59 of this
annual report respectively.

Borrowings

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2022, so far as the Company is
aware, the aggregate revenue attributable to our five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
71.2% and 65.8%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for
the financial year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 65.5% of the Group’s total
purchases for the financial year and the purchase from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 24.2%.
None of the Directors, or any of his close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) or Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital), had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or suppliers during the financial year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the percentage
of public float as prescribed in the GEM Listing Rules for the Year
and at any time up to the date of this annual report.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Ms. Lee Kwai Fong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Mr. Wei Qing (appointed on 30 September 2021)

Mr. Chu Wai Tak (appointed on 1 December 2021)

Mr. Yu Ziyi (resigned on 9 June 2021)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Pui Hang

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Ms. Ren Hongyan

Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (appointed on 1 December 2021)

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board
or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
general meeting of members of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
of the Company and shall then be eligible for reelection.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding any
other provisions in the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are
set out on pages 15 to 21 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he or she has
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years with effect from the Listing date and will be automatically
extended. Either party has the right to give not less than three
months’ written notice to terminate the service agreement.

The non-executive Directors has been appointed for a fixed term
of two years with effect from the Appointment Date.
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Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice have been
appointed for a fixed term of three years with effect from the
Listing date and will be automatically extended. Ms. Ren
Hongyan, and Ms. Kwok Wai Ling have been appointed for a
fixed term of two years with effect from the Appointment Date.
Save for the Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-
executive Directors is expected to receive any other emolument
for holding his or her office as a non-executive Director or an
independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or
entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than the statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independency of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Interest in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

Related Party Transaction

Details of material related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. None of
the material related party transactions disclosed in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction (as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company for the
Year. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the Listing Rules.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company.

Emoluments of the Directors and the Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Emolument Policy

The executive Directors, the independent non-executive Directors
and senior management receive compensation in the form of
directors’ fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to
the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by
comparable companies, respective responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children (under 18 years of age), or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executive in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), Chapter 571),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Notes:

1. As at 31 March 2022, the Company issued ordinary share capital was
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd (“Infinite Force”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands on 18 October 2016 and an investment holding
company, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman and
an executive Director. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the
180,800,000 Shares held by Infinite Force by virtue of his 100% shareholding
interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other
interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 March 2022, person (other than the directors of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, was recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

EEEHRES

FTERRREADARMD - HERS
REERTRHNESZRXR

RZZEZZF=A=1+—H BREARFESI"
RIEFEH M EIRPIFE336IEBETFEZER
AT EE B MAR A B FHITRAE% 3 A
EZ2ARRBIRMD RABBERG 2 SR E B
ATEIAT -

Percentage of

Number of issued share
Nature of interest/ ordinary capital of
Name of Shareholders Holding capacity shares held the Company
EARQT B BT
BRRER BB EEME 2EREH S BEREE BAEANE DL
(Note 1)
(BtaE1)
Infinite Force Beneficial owner 180,800,000 (L) 18.08%
EREAA (Notes 2, 3)
(Kiz#2 - 3)
Ms. Fong Wing Yan (“Ms. Fong”) Interest of spouse 180,800,000 (L) 18.08%
FHEBEZ LT ([Fxt]) B (5 4 2 (Note 4)
(BtiE4)
Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Beneficial owner 65,000,000 (L) 6.50%
MENB Zr 4 EnHAA
Notes: BtaE -
1. As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital was 1. RZTZZF=A=+—H ARAIZBEHTEER

HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

2. Infinite Force, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 18
October 2016 and an investment holding company, is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman and an executive Director. Therefore,
Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the 180,800,000 Shares held by Infinite
Force by virtue of his 100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

4. Ms. Fong is the spouse of Mr. Li. She is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Li is interested under Part XV of the SFO.

X 10,000,0007% 7T (% A1,000,000,0008% & B H (&
0.01 BT Z %) ©

2. Infinite Force B— MR =T — R "FE+ A+ N\BEEE
HBRRRESEMRI ZREERAR EAER R
NTEFFTEEZEERBER A BREFXRER
Infinite Force # /8 100% AR # + 1% # 1% /3 7 Infinite Force
#5765 2180,800,000/% iz 17 45 #E 2

3. FHRILIEZALIRBROZERE

4. FEREIRFHEEZRE -BRIEEFEF RMEGHEXV
B EBERANFEEBE RS RO TEE S
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business at ay time during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Ample Capital Limited (“Ample Capital”)
to be the compliance adviser. As informed by Ample Capital ,
neither Ample Capital nor any of its directors or employees or
close associates, has or may have, any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities), which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of
the GEM Listing Rules, except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Ample
Capital dated 10 May 2018.

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

As permitted by the Articles, a director of the Company may be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the director shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of his or her duty as a director of the Company, to
the extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity provision
has been in force since the adoption of the Articles and is
currently in force at the time of approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its
directors and officers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Deed of Non-Competition

Each of the controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of its/his compliance with the terms and undertakings
of the deed of non-competition provided to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s
Prospectus). The INEDs have reviewed the status of compliance
and confirmed that all the terms and undertakings under the
Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by the
controlling Shareholders.

Corporate Governance

The Company and its management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is essential for continual growth and enhancement of
shareholder’s value. From the listing date to the date of this
annual report, the Company has applied and complied with the
code provisions stipulated in the Corporate Governance Report
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices
with reference to the latest development in corporate
governance. The Group’s principal corporate governance
practices and compliance with code provisions are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 34 of this annual
report.

Environmental and Corporate Social
Responsibilities

During the Year, the Group is committed to continuously promote
the long-term, stable and sustainable development of employees,
environmental protection and social responsibilities.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Year
containing all information required by the GEM Listing Rules will
be published on the respective websites of GEM and the
Company in due course.

EEEHRES
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EEEHRES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed with management the
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the accounting
principles and practices adopted and discussed auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters.

Auditor

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”). A
resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton as our auditor will be
submitted for shareholders’ approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

o GrantThornton
G

To the shareholders of Amuse Group Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 56 to 150, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B AR S
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B AR S

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

BRETEE
MRBENFTEDRBET S 2EEHE RAY
$Hﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ%$ﬁi‘%2%ﬁﬂa%§22$lﬁ o it

%Iﬁmﬁiﬁgu‘l‘%&ﬁﬁﬁ?éﬁﬁﬁi&%&ﬁ
ﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf&ﬁ EETEHELEIRREM
BEzER-

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

W 35 7 AR B

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the — & 53 B4R A BT TS 3R 2% T a4 ) B at2. 1889 & &1

accounting policy in note 2.18.

The Key Audit Matter
BARETSE

BE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNNEEZSEE

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from the
sales of Original Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) toys to
license holders, sales of own licensed toys and related
products and distribution of imported toys and related
products. Revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has been transferred to the customers in
accordance with the contractual arrangements and
related agreed commercial shipping terms.
EEENBEEIEREHERRKRTRE ([ODM ) It
ETHHABAAN HEBRFATAREBEER LD
HEDMAREAER - EEmERIERES L
REBRBENBXERGREBRERPR AR
WS o

During the year ended 31 March 2022,
generated from the sales of ODM toys to license
holders, distribution of imported toys and related
products and sales of own licensed toys and related
products are HK$107,749,000, HK$50,264,000 and
HK$58,472,000, respectively.

HE_ZT__F=A=+—HILFE HEODMITA
THAFREA DHEEOARBEERARIEE S
EEAMAREEERAMEENKE D Al B
107,749,000/ 7T + 50,264,00078 7T }258,472,00078 JT ©

revenue
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Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue
recognition from sales of products included the
foIIowing'

FRIBREHEEmMZ WERRZSHE 2 BEAIEF
PJ%J«/{T%IE :

e understanding and reviewing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over
revenue recognition;

o  TERIREFHMBANKSER ZERAMED 2R

i

e inspecting key customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating to
transfer of control of the goods and assessing the
Group’s timing of revenue recognition with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

s MERTBREFSAOUBFIES mEHEER
BRAZGREGE ARZRBETEAERZE
KAt BEEWRERBER:
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

B AR S

ARETSEE®)
Uy 3% FE SR ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENBTNNEBZSE

The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.
SEEENERHESHNNE K KE X GHRAETE W
FE R B i R

We identified the timing of revenue recognition as a key
audit matter because each sales contract may have
different terms and conditions which increases the risk
of error and because revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and could be
subject to manipulation to meet targets or expectations.
BN & HE S K] LB A & 18 HNEE 3R @ b 1) D R K
Mgt kkmErn SEEEHP -HARRRES
WAL R BIBRALOEBME R R MBS Z AN
RERAERES SR

e comparing revenue transactions recognised during
the year, on a sample basis, with contracts and
goods delivery notes with the customers’
acknowledgement of receipt and acceptance of
the goods or bills of lading and assessing whether
revenue was recognised in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition policies;

s MEUBFACHEARRRFIEEHNRTEEEP
BB REAEmERANEEESNIEE WA
HESREBEASE 2 WRERBR T IARER:

e comparing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with underlying sales
invoices and shipping documents to determine
whether the related revenue had been recognised
in the appropriate financial period; and

e MBRHBEERABEARZABKER S HEE
S RE MM B X AEEEE RS
RREEE ZFHATIAER

e inspecting underlying documentation for manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to meet specific risk-based criteria.
ERWSEEBEERBRTaREERRIKENF
T ARRACEREVABRAX 4 -
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B AR S

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Impairment assessment on trade and bills
receivables

FEREETTEE®E)

BEZRERERBREBNRER A

Refer to notes 15 and 26.2 to the consolidated financial — #F2 474 B FEIRZE N1 iE15526.204 K f1:+2.9

statements and the accounting policy in notes 2.9 and 2.10.

The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

RO A0S 5TBR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNNEREZEE

The Group’s major customers primarily include (i) toy
licensees or toy intermediaries based in Japan and the
United States of America; and (i) various distributors of
the Group’s imported toys and related products and
own licensed toys and related products in Hong Kong,
Japan, the United States of America, Mainland China
and Taiwan.
EEENTERPERE()ERARENRERENIT
BEFHBEASIAFRBAR RHNVES - BAR £
FRB2ERBE PREAMESESH ESEMNEAR
BRBEAEmEEREANAERERERNZ R D H
75 o

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Customers located in different jurisdictions are subject
to different local risks specific to those jurisdictions in
addition to the effects of the global economic climate.
EXENEERRFEXZEEPENSEMTE R
RH 2R BERIENZEIN LR TARBDEE RN E
FRXEZEFEERFEN TR AROTE -
Management assesses the lifetime expected credit loss
(‘ECL”) allowance required at each reporting date after
taking into account the ageing analysis and loss rate of
trade and bill receivables and any other factors specific
to individual debtors concerned and a collective element
based on historical experience adjusted for certain
current factors.
EREEZERE S RUFEREREERNRRD TR
BEXREBAERNER AR EthEZIARBER
AETROTARFEABRNELLRELNGEEERE
A EME BHFEN 2 ERE BB R EKT -

50 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment on trade and bills receivables included the
following:
FEEAEEZIRUFIAREREROBEN G 2EF
IR BEENTEE:

e understanding and reviewing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
processes of credit control, collection of trade and
bills receivables and follow up of overdue balances;

e THWREN BEXEEHEEEH EIEKXK
TH R MR R B R SRR R 2 B PR 2
R REN

e  evaluating the Group’s policy for making lifetime
ECL allowance for trade and bills receivables with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e Z2RBBTEFEACZRE FE EKEESHE
WHIEREKZEEN 2 HEREEEEEE K
%

e  assessing the classification of individual balances in
the trade and bills receivables ageing report by
comparison with sales invoices and other
underlying documentation, on a sample basis;

o FRMALBEERFELMMEE X FHE
2 FEMR IR I e W 15 BR e ¥R = M [ Bl A5 8RB0 2
o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Impairment assessment on trade and bills
receivables (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREEHE

B AR S

FEREETTEE®E)

BEZREFREAREBRRBRERNGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNNEEBZSE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has gross trade and
bills receivables of HK$7,605,000. Management
determines the ECL allowance on these trade and bills
receivables amounting to HK$21,000.
RZEZZF=A=+—H AEEBEZFEKRFER
FEW IR 4858 A7,605,0008 L - EREBEEZSE S
JEW R IR I B W R B eV TR HAE B B 18 BB /21,0008
I o

We identified the impairment assessment on trade and
bills receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significant degree of management judgement involved in
determining the lifetime ECL allowance for trade and bills
receivables and because of the significance of trade and
bills receivables to the consolidated financial statements.
HRNETEZRKRFBAREREENZBEBEES
BREBIENEEBHENERREE RESVHKR
KNEFRWKRBEREBREBENERN L  MEFHT
B RSB NERE RN REN A RERETEE-

obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the ECL model adopted by
management, including the basis of the
segmentation of the trade and bills receivables
based on credit risk characteristics, the historical
default data, and the assumptions involved in
management’s estimated loss rate; and
THRERERANEEEEEEE R SE
MRERER(BRREERRRSE ELEOBE
MEREBBRFTERAENBRRYEE HEKNE
REWREz D EHERE) &

assessing the reasonableness of management’s
lifetime ECL allowance estimates by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data.
FERTCERESLABHAGRAZEN (B
ARELENEREREY) MIHEEEMN
A HEREERREE Bt
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B AR S

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the 2021/22
annual report of the Company, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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B AR S

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

e  conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

28 June 2022

Lam Kam Fung
Practising Certificate No.: P07822
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ek HMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{ZE —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

2022 2021
—_E-= —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FEx FHIT
Revenue g 4.1 216,485 211,467
Cost of sales HEK AR 14(p) (181,612) (173,503)
Gross profit EF 34,873 37,964
Other income, net H AU A FE 58 5 3,898 6,477
Selling expenses HERX (8,200) (5,649)
Administrative expenses TEAX (27,036) (25,975)
Fair value changes of financial assets at & A FEzF ABzE 2 4 &l
fair value through profit or loss BEHNANFEEES (38) 352
Fair value changes of investment WEYERN QT EE
properties 11 (461) 302
(Provision)/Reversal of ECL allowance B S EWFHIEEHREE
on trade receivables, net BB (BE) BEZ
tJEIpE L (17) 182
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—HEaERRZEE 13 (1,917) (1,086)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHB ARz W 25 2,123 =
Profit from operations SRR 3,225 12,567
Finance costs Rl E KA 6(a) (108) (196)
Profit before taxation BR B A E Al 6 3,117 12,371
Income tax expense FrBfiF X 7(a) (1,636) (3,694)
Profit and total comprehensive ARTERSEEAEM
income for the year attributable FRBEMNR2EKE
to equity holders of the Company e 1,481 8,677
Earnings per share for profit RATEREEAEMLSR
attributable to equity holders of FHEREF
the Company
— Basic and diluted (in HK cents) — BEARRESE (LABILED) 0.15 0.87
The notes on pages 61 to 150 are an integral part of these  $61E 1508 KM s H K 2 Z 458 B A5 MR Y

consolidated financial statements.

56 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022

—#5



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

At 31 March 2022 W =—E=-—#=H=+—H

2022 2021
—ZE_C —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Nz FET TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties A 11 - 32,000
Property, plant and equipment W BB k&G 11 16,735 21,401
Interests in joint ventures REEBERANER 13 3 1,920
Deferred tax assets FEIERIHE B 23(b) 425 128
Other receivables H b jE U I8 16 117 747
17,280 56,196
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 14(a) 2,702 1,864
Trade and bills receivables B 5 W EIE & E R 15 7,584 10,476
Other receivables H b W s 8 16 38,423 59,691
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABR SR
profit or loss BE 17 3,865 5,329
Current tax recoverable AT Y = BN EA R 18 23(a) 3,452 853
Bank deposits and cash RITER LB 18(a) 151,640 86,961
207,666 165,174
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N A e 5RIE 19 8,886 9,317
Contract liabilities EHaE 20 30,718 24,002
Amount due to a joint venture R —MEEEARRIE 13 3 3
Bank loan IRITER 21 3,327 3,487
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 820 3,055
Current tax payable FET BN EARR IR 23(a) 579 1,499
44,333 41,363
Net current assets REBEEFE 163,333 123,811
Total assets less current liabilites #ZEERABERZ 180,613 180,007
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

At 31 March 2022 R=—ZE=-—#=H=+—H

2022 2021
—ZE_C —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Nz FET TET

Non-current liabilities I RBEB
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 83 504
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIE 8 (& 23(b) 178 632
261 1,136
Net assets EEFRE 180,352 178,871

EQUITY e

Share capital & 7R 242 10,000 10,000
Reserves i1 170,352 168,871
Total equity HmRER 180,352 178,871

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

28 June 2022.

The notes on pages 61 to 150 are an integral part of these

Li Wai Keung
ZER
Director

BF

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t —E -~ —4#=A=+—HIFE

Merger
Share Share reserve  Retained Total
capital premium (Note 24.3) profits equity
BOHRE

A RO=RE (HE243) RERR Y £
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Balance at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZENA—HMN
323 10,000 66,991 129 93,074 170,194

Profit and total comprehensive 4 R R & 2 H W x5 40 58
income for the year - - - 8,677 8,677

Balance at 31 March2021 R=-ZB=-—-f=H=+-—
and 1 April 2021 BR=—ZE-—FWHHF—H
W g 10,000 66,991 129 101,751 178,871

Profit and total comprehensive 4 A3 I I 2 T W a5 42 58
income for the year - - - 1,481 1,481

Balance at 31 March2022 R=-ZE-=-H£=A=+-—
A # 4k 10,000 66,991 129 103,232 180,352

The notes on pages 61 to 150 are an integral part of these 61 Z=1508 W sEABRKZ SR A M EHRE D
consolidated financial statements. —&B e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B3 FER FAT
Operating activities ReEEE
Cash generated from operations KESH G 18(b) 44,411 17,889
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBRNEH (5,906) (3,072)
Net cash generated from operating KE BTSN S 55
activities 38,505 14,817
Investing activities REEE
Interest received B F S 173 559
Placement of bank deposits with original 7R EIEH & =18 A
maturities over three months LA EBER1TIF 3K - (14,918)
Withdrawal of bank deposits with original  REUREI#I B A =18 &
maturities over three months LA ERIRITIF X 14,918 10,000
Payment for the purchase of equipment, — BEE & - RI1B L E B MK
furniture and fixtures (4,010) (6,217)
Payment for the purchase of investment ~ BE & R &4 2 1 &
properties (461) (31,698)
Capital injection to a joint venture M—EEEAREE - (3,006)
Increase in amount due to a joint venture B —fE A & A Bl F B AN - 3
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—FENBARIMSEHRE 25 34,000 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) ®EEFAE (FTA)
investing activities REF5E 44,620 (44,277)
Financing activities il & E B
Repayment of bank loan BERITER 18(c) (160) (162)
Interest paid B E 18(c) (108) (196)
Payment of lease liabilities HE & BR® 18(c) (3,260) (3,251)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBATAE S IFRE (3,528) (3,599)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BERRESEY M
cash equivalents CR2) #8 79,597 (33,059)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FORERBEEEY
beginning of the year 72,043 105,102
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end F£REERBRLEEY
of the year 18(a) 151,640 72,043
The notes on pages 61 to 150 are an integral part of these  ZF61E150B KM FEAEKZ TR P BRED

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O. Box
1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business
of the Company is at Flat A-C, 3A/F, Metex House, 24-32
Fui Yiu Kok Street, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in design, marketing,
distribution and retail sales of toys and related products. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

These financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

62

2.1

2.2

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2.3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the investment properties and certain
financial assets are stated at their fair value as
explained in note 2.5.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are disclosed in note 3.

Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 April 2021

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position for the
current and prior periods have been prepared and
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERRM

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended
HKFRSs have been published but are not yet effective,
and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Insurance Contracts and related
amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2018-2020'

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combination*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

8 Effective date not yet determined

4 Effective for business combination/common control combination
for which the acquisition/combination date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1

January 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning on or after the effective date
of the pronouncement. Information on new and
amended HKFRSs that are expected to have impact
on the Group’s accounting policies is provided below.
Other new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose material accounting policy information instead
of significant accounting policies in its financial
statements. The amendments also provide some
guidance on how material policy information are being
identified and provide some examples of when
accounting policy information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to
provide entities with non-mandatory guidance on how
to make materiality judgements when preparing their
general purpose financial statements in accordance
with HKFRS. HKFRS Practice Statement 2 was
subsequently revised to provide guidance and
examples on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and
are applied prospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. Except for the disclosure of accounting
policies in note 2 may need to be revised to cope with
the above changes, the directors of the Group expect
that the amendments have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHHE®)
(Continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation 24 mEE%E

66

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

The Group includes income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and
cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where
certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for
as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in
a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in
consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company’s profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, and subsequently at fair value.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment properties.

Fair value is determined by external professional
valuers, with sufficient experience with respect to both
the location and the nature of the investment property.
The carrying amounts recognised at the end of the
reporting period reflect the prevailing market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or
from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

68

(Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (other than
cost of right-of-use assets as described in note 2.8).
Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual
value (if any) using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful
lives, i.e. 30-50 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years

Building situated on
leasehold land

Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 30%
Moulds Shorter of the licensed

period of 2 to 3 years or
the remaining of licensed
period

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use
assets is set out in note 2.8.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period.

Gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
relating about relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

In consolidated financial statements, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the
joint venture is carried at cost and adjusted for the
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
joint venture’s net assets less any identified impairment
loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
The profit or loss for the year includes the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
joint venture for the year, including any impairment loss
on the investment in joint venture recognised for the
year.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

70

(Continued)
2.7 Joint ventures (Continued)

Where the joint venture uses accounting policies other
than those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, adjustments are made,
where necessary, to conform the joint venture’s
accounting policies to those of the Group when the
joint venture’s financial statements are used by the
Group in applying the equity method.

When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint ventures, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. For this
purpose, the Group’s interest in the joint venture is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture.

After the application of equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment
in its joint venture. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group determines whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in joint ventures is
impaired. If such indications are identified, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as being the
difference between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of
the joint venture and its carrying amount. In
determining the value in use of the investment, the
Group estimates its share of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated
by the joint venture, including cash flows arising from
the operations of the joint venture and the proceeds on
ultimate disposal of the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE®)

(Continued)
2.8 Leases 28 #HE
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a (a) HEZEZRAEBIESE
lessee FAA
At inception of a contract, the Group considers REBRENVREREEBE

whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract,
that conveys the right to use an identified asset
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration’. To apply this
definition, the Group assesses whether the
contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

° the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract; and

e the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period of
use. The Group assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of
use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and
non-lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
2.8 Leases (Continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a

lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred
by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net

of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on
a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier of the end of
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term unless the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership at the end of the
lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-
use asset for impairment when such indicator

exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FE&BUR®)
(Continued)
2.8 Leases (Continued) 28 HE(WE)
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a (a) HEZEZRAEBIESE

lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will
be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability. It
is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of modification. The only exception is any rent
concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16
and recognised the change in consideration as if
it were not a lease modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERRM

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.8 Leases (Continued)

74

(@

(b)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial
position, right-of-use assets have been included
in “property, plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as
either operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset,
and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment properties.
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHHE®
(Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments

29 £®IA

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual
right to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade and bills receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component and are
measured at the transaction price in accordance with
HKFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at
fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

— at amortised cost;
—  FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

2. FESHHE®)

29 €T E(E)

76

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs or other income, net, except for
expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade and bills
receivables and other receivables, which is presented
as a separate item in profit or loss.

Trade and bills receivables and other
receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2.10).

When there is any evidence indicating that the trade
and bills receivable balances become uncollectible, for
instance, when the debtors suffer from liquidation,
bankruptcy, having net liabilities or inadequate cash
flow, bad debts are recognised and the balances are
written off in that period against the corresponding
provision for ECL allowance that has previously been
made for these balances.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHHE®
(Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

29 €T E(E)

Trade and bills receivables and other
receivables (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the
assets meet the following conditions:

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income, net in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
The Group’s trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and bank deposits and cash fall into this
category of financial instruments.

Equity investments

Investments in securities held for trading were classified
as financial assets measured at FVTPL. Any attributable
transaction costs were recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value was remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHHE®)

78

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loan, lease
liabilities, trade and other payables and amount due to
a joint venture.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised costs using the
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are included within finance
costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in
note 2.8.

Bank loan

Bank loan is recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, bank loan is stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Bank loan is classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
the reporting period.

Trade and other payables and amount due to
a joint venture

They are initially recognised at fair value, and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE®)
(Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets

210 £ EERE

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including bank deposits and cash
and trade and bills receivables and other receivables).

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

— bank deposits and cash, and trade and bills
receivables and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credlit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

80

(Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables

For trade and bills receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL and recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the end of
reporting period. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial
assets. Bills receivables are assessed individually. In
calculating the ECL of trade receivables, the Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory
business, financial, economic conditions or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

2. FES

TR ()

210 ERWMEEREE)
BEBERA GBI AMEMEE

(#8)
A

s

T

HE R RS R TR

mE
SEBATER:

ERITENB (WB)HAME
B RO ER R FERBER(

EERBRNINBTISERERE
B WMEENE -EBHANGE
BN REBRAREMN:

T B B A M (A
E TS 2T 55
RSB RIBEOR RN
THED R

BEHEARERENERHTAY
mEBIE-

FREP Y AR AEE R

B %A B A HIB308 - BIE
AT B AR B FRZ 0
BREAEEEARAN LY AR

& B

o

—To—assR EReEzRaRAT 81




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

82

2.11

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group);
or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of financial
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in note
26.2.

Impairment of other non-financial assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the Company’s investments in
subsidiaries, interests in joint ventures and property,
plant and equipment may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Impairment of other non-financial assets
(Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit
(“CGU"). Corporate assets are allocated to
individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the CGU to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

84

(Continued)
2.12 Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sales in the
ordinary course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

2.13 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays trade deposit before the delivery of goods at the
inception of a contract, until the revenue recognised
(see note 2.18) exceeds the amount of the deposit. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2.9).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHHE®
(Continued)

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Q4 BHEREBEESEEY

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note
2.9.

2.15 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefits plan (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to
the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

86

(Continued)
2.16 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE®)
(Continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

216 FIEBETRE(E)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

88

(Continued)
2.16 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2.5, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sales
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sales. In all other cases, the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities if the Group has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

— inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. XE®FBXR®@)
(Continued)
2.16 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 216 FIEHRETEE(E)
— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if — EBECEHRBEEELREE Z

they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

2.17 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive present obligation arising as a result of
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Any provision are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of toys and
related products.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3.  Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sales of toys and related products.
Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHHE®
(Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued) 218 W R (4B

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of toys and related products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the
products.

Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out in
note 2.8.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.

Management fee income

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
Group has provided its management service to the
customers.

2.19 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. Government grants are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that
the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in
gross under “other income, net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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(Continued)
2.20 Translation of foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional
currency of the Group.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
during the year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and
non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities.

In the consolidated financial statements, the results of
foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.21 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.22 Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:
(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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(Continued)
2.22 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

2.23 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities,
are described below.

3.1 Estimated useful lives of property, plant and

equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of its property,
plant and equipment based on the periods cover which
the assets are expected to be available for use. The
Group reviews annually their estimated useful lives,
based on factors that include asset utilisation, the
expected physical wear and tear, environmental factors
and anticipated use of the assets tempered by related
industry benchmark information. It is possible that
future results of operation could be materially affected
by changes in these estimates brought about by
changes in factors mentioned. A reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
would increase depreciation charges and decrease the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment. At
as 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment was HK$16,735,000 (2021:
HK$21,401,000).
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3. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

96

3.2

3.3

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and
bills receivables and other receivables by assessing the
ECL. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECL are based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at
the end of reporting period. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate carrying amounts of trade and bills
receivables and other receivables amounted to
HK$12,826,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$21,000)
(2021: HK$15,867,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$4,000)). Where the estimation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amounts of trade and bills receivables and other
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period
in which such estimate is changed (note 15 and note
16).

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties

The Group’s investment properties are measured using
the fair value model based on a valuation performed by
independent qualified professional valuer. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has applied a
market value basis that involves, inter-alia, certain
estimates, including comparable market transactions,
market rent and term yields. In relying on the valuation,
management of the Group has exercised judgment
and is satisfied that the valuation method used is
reflective of the current market conditions. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these estimates would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying
amount of investment properties was nil (2021:
HK$32,000,000) (note 11).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

3. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 3. A THEEENEERFR@E)

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

3.4 Current and deferred income taxes

3.4 AVHIRIESEFTSBL

There are many transactions and events for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Significant judgement is
required from the Group in determining the provision
for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group had current tax payable and current tax
recoverable of HK$579,000 (2021: HK$1,499,000) and
HK$3,452,000 (2021: HK$853,000), respectively. The
details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are set

FHEEKBREY TERHMEE
BRI EEFETHEE T - A%
ErECmEHREREEHELE
RHVE - W2 EFEN SRR
BRIRYRREEN ST HEEES
¥ 7 T HA T 0 BT 15 0 R Ol S 7% 18 4%
BEEFYE-R_ZT-__F=A8
=t+—8 - AEENPEMFRER
AJ 45 [51 BV HA 76 18 9 Bl 579,000/ 7T

— T~ — 4 :1,499,000% T) &
3,452,000 (Z T = —F:
853,000 7T) - B AR LETIH & &
R BB EHNH 23 o

out in note 23.

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. W& R 2 #BHKE
4.1 Revenue 4.1 Wi
The principal activities of the Group are design, AEBRNEFEEH AR EH 9
marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys and HEREEMAREEER-
related products.

Disaggregation of revenue W 75 21 73
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with RE-—([EARMEBERNESEOK
customers which are recognised at a point in time by HIRFEZEERENDOT

major products is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FHIT
Revenue from contracts within the &8 B 33k & % B 551555
scope of HKFRS 15 HEAWESH WS
Sales of ODM toys to license holders ~ $% ODM ¥t A F 45 5F
HAA 107,749 134,054
Distribution of imported toys and 8O IT A RIBHEE®
related products 50,264 44,297
Sales of own licensed toys and related  $#5& 8 K 45 =7 It B & 40
products Em 58,472 33,116
216,485 211,467
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

4.1 Revenue (Continued)

4, WHERDEREE)

4.1 W (4E)

98

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed in note
4.3.

The Group’s customers are primarily distributors based
in Japan. The percentage of revenue contributed by
the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended
31 March 2022 amounted to approximately 71%
(2021: 75%).

The Group manages its business by three divisions,
namely sales of ODM toys, sales of own licensed toys
and distribution of imported toys. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has identified
three reportable segments, which are sales of ODM
toys to license holders, distribution of imported toys
and related products and sales of own licensed toys
and related products respectively. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the reportable
segments.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results based on the revenue and expenses which are
allocated to the reportable segments with reference to
revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of
assets attributable to those segments.

Segment assets and segment liabilities is not reported
or used by the Group’s most senior executive
management.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

4.1 Revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

4, WHRDEREE)

Distribution of

imported toys and  licensed toys and

Sales of ODM toys  related products
AHEDTE  HEBXREIMA

H#EODMTE REBER

2022 2021 2022

2021

4.1 W (4E)

Wz &7 (&)
BHE-_T-_—_#R-_FE-_—4¥=A
E+—HIEFE BoRERESH
RATEMAEESETHRERE
REBALEEATZHRS MBHOER
FIE AT :

Sales of own
related products Unallocated Total

LEBER ROE Eh
022 021 202 021 02 202

CECCECEC-FCBCCECEC-ECECCECE--ECECCE-F--ECECCECE--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén ThEr TErn Thn Then Tixr Thn TEr Tin Thrn
Revenue fromexternal ~ SMBEE U
customers 107,749 134054 50,264 44297 58472 33,116 - - 216,485 211467
Inter-segment revenue A EEIME - - 8644 13180 43812 26504 - - 52456 39,693
Reportable segment BE G R
revenue 107,749 134054 58,908 57,486 102,284 59,620 - - 268,941 251,160
Reportable segment (oss)/ A 252 % (BE) /
oroft eg (1909) 3240 6666 6272 (5131 (9% - _ 80 652
Depreciation for the year ~ ERHE 1,040 838 1454 1586 6,791 7946 - - 9285 10,370
Reportable segment ~ WE2HRAHBEE
assets
Non-current assets other  JERBIEE (SR T
than financial BB elE:
instruments), including:
— Interests in joint —REERAEN
ventures 5 - - - - - - 3 190 3 190
Additions to non-curent R IIEREN 5 56
segment assets (other ~ BE (£BRIAR
than financial ERREEAER
instruments and 5)
deferred tax assets)
during the year 1,740 597 704 219 2175 4,984 - - 4619 5860
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. WHEE2HHE @)

(Continued)

4.1 Revenue (Continued) 4.1
Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date
The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
goods such that the above information does not
include information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for sales

W2 (%)

HEFEARRBEFHEXTE

ERYFEEIR B & TR

B 25

REBDREAZTEVBMESELE
155 B121B Al TTREE A2 ERE
MmIHEA L) UE Lt ER T B

SERBETEmEE

BH(RER

AREREBA - FHER)ETHR
BREOVRCTRBERESHESEZE

of goods that had an original expected duration of one e
year or less.
4.2 Reconciliations of reportable segment profit 4.2 T EHRH IEFIE R
2022 2021
—E-C— T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Profit iz Al
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived TR A& B INEE F R A 2
from the Group’s external customers ¥R % 28 (E548) % A (380) 6,522
Other income, net H it g A F 58 3,898 6,477
Fair value changes of financial assets at 12 A FEF A2 2 £ @/
FVTPL BENHATEE (38) 352
Fair value changes of investment WEYEN DT EZE
properties (461) 302
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—EEaE AR ZEE (1,917) (1,086)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—fERB ARz WS 2,123 =
Finance costs A& A AR (108) (196)
Consolidated profit before taxation LA BR B AT & A 3,117 12,371
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. WHEE9HHE @)

(Continued)

4.3 Geographic information 4.3 HEER
The following table sets out information about the T &S A (i) $5E ODM It & : (i)
geographic location of (i) sales of ODM toys, (ii) oS53 O Ir B KR B8 2 @ K (i) SE &
distribution of imported toys and related products and BEXRFATARBHEERNHESE
(iil) sales of own licensed toys and related products. o B P AR R TIIRIE & an S i
The geographical location of customers is based on 2hT5E ©

4.4

the location at which the goods were delivered.

Revenue from external

customers
SHEEF Wz
2022 2021
—_E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FHT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (FTiEHs) 26,992 24,313
Japan SN 111,073 135,108
The United States of America FEFERE RE 32,732 11,727
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) R AREME ([HE]) 20,217 18,006
Taiwan =) 11,648 11,295
South Korea BE [ 3,170 2,595
Others Hitb 10,653 8,423
189,493 187,154
216,485 211,467
Information about major customers 44 TEEXFHNEHR
Revenue from customers during the year contributing FAGEREE K =ET10% HEF B
over 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows: W& T
2022 2021
—E_—C —E %
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Customer A BEPA 74,533 97,052
Customer B EFB 36,540 38,056
Customer C BFC 31,417 (note)

Note: This customer did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of
the Group in 2021.

Hat: ZEPR_F - —FHARBEBKEH

BRI ERB10% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=PAN
mEeR
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{Z —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

vF 355 3 2 BT RE

5. OTHER INCOME, NET

H A WA F 58

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT T

Bank interest income RITHBHA 173 559

Compensation income HEKA 408 1,138

COVID-19-related rent concessions BEUGETEARRAE SRR

received (note (i) (Kra@) 5 219

Net exchange gain ekl 1,312 795

Freight charge income EEBRA 510 199
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of financial assets H&ZAFEFAEBREZ

at FVTPL cREEY (F8) M (898) 49

Government grants (note (ii)) AT R B (M7 (i) ) 100 1,980

Management fee income BEIEE U A 1,393 1,364

Rental income e A 707 16

Sundry income HMIEWA 188 158

3,898 6,477

Notes:

(i

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has adopted
Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021”. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions”. Hence, the Group applies the practical expedients
introduced by the amendments to all eligible rent concessions received
by the Group during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of HK$100,000 in respect of SME Export Marketing
Fund provided by the Hong Kong SAR Government. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$1,980,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, of which
HK$1,660,000 and HK$320,000 relates to Employment Support
Scheme and Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme under Anti-epidemic Fund
provided by the Hong Kong SAR Government respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t —E -~ —4#=A=+—HIFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 PFRBiATEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): PR AR F D&M (FFA) AT B8
T
2022 2021
—=-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT THT
(a) Finance costs (a) BLE R A
Interest on bank loan and overdrafts RITERNBLFE 49 63
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERE 59 133
108 196
(b) Staff costs (excluding directors’ (b) ETEAE (FEHE
remuneration) EEME)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ITEREMER 7,199 7,174
Contributions to defined contributions TE B8 ft SR IRET B g3k
retirement plans 318 336
7,517 7,510
(c) Other items (c) Hfh1E B
Depreciation: wE:
— Owned assets —HBEEE 6,224 6,976
— Right-of-use assets —ERREEE 3,061 3,394
Total depreciation ERRE 9,285 10,370
Auditor’s remuneration RN & 780 750
Provision/(Reversal) of ECL allowance B S RrRWGIETEREES
on trade receivables, net (note 15) B, (BEZERE)
VREE (M aE15) 17 (182)
Write-off of property, plant and WEHME - BB R &
equipment - 388
Reversal of provision for inventories GFEREZRE
(note 14(b)) (Kiat140)) (946) =
Write down of inventories (note 14(b)) WoRFE (BaE14(0)) 428 1,078
Write-off of other receivables Ji61 £ LA i U FRIE 774 =
—z-—asR Eresmpsrss 103




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(@ Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

7. GEBEBERANFER

(@) ARAEBmRANMETIE:

2022 2021
—E-C— T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax ~ BIEAF 1 — FB RS
Provision for the year F A 2,343 3,942
Under-provision/(Over-provision) in BEFERETIRS
respect of prior years (HBEERE) 44 (156)
2,387 3,786
Deferred tax EIERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ ERMEZR 7 E4 N T
differences (note 23(b)) (Ht#z23(b)) (751) (92)
Total income tax expense i 8% 1,636 3,694

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2022 is
calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying entities
are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for
Hong Kong profits tax for this subsidiary was
calculated at the same basis in 2021.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2022 has
also taken into account a reduction granted by the
Hong Kong SAR Government of 100% of the tax
payable for the year of assessment 2021-22. The
eligible companies are entitled for the maximum
reduction of HK$10,000 (2021: HK$10,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. REBRRANAEH®
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)
() Reconciliation between income tax expense and ) FIEHMAXEEERANRESENS
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: Fhom A E AR
2022 2021
—E-_-F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Profit before taxation BR B A& A 3,117 12,371
Notional tax on profit before taxation, B % A a F1l% F B 0 12 1078
calculated at the rates applicable to A)ERE R B )5 A A B
profits in the jurisdictions concerned TE 349 1,876
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ B] 174 B Sz 9 % 74 57 22 1,084 2,078
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERMBANREZE (340) (558)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRB AT B EEL
recognised MgwE 214 285
Tax effect of share of result of a joint ElE—EEE AR ZEE
venture WG TE 316 179
Under-provision/(Over-provision) in prior i@ 1% F E ##& T8 (58
years ) 44 (156)
Others Hib (31) (10)
Income tax expense PS5 2 1,636 3,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{Z —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM BIEGEM EmHR A BB R B EHE
Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies 383(1) R ArA (BEEFEMRER)R
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of PIE2E - E= M REBELT
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Discretionary  Retirement
Directors’ and benefits bonuses scheme
fees in kind (note (ix))  contribution Total
R
EER B ERsHE
&2k BNER  (Kix) e #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn TiEn Tign TER

2022 —B-CF
Executive Directors HITEE
— Mr. Li Wai Keung —FEREE

(Chief Executive Offcer) (note (x)  (77485%) (Bit(y) - 3,019 3,000 31 6,050
— Mr. To Hoi Pan —HEREE - 975 - 18 993
— Ms. Lee Kwai Fong —ZEFLL - 522 60 18 600
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
— Mr. Yu Ziyi (note (i) — RTEREE (HzEi) 12 - - 1 13
— Mr. Wei Qing (note (iv)) —RERE(WiEW) 36 - - 2 38
— Mr. Chu Wai Tak note () — REERE(WHY) 38 - - 2 40
— Mr. Lee Ming Yeung (note (v) ~ — ZBRIERAE (Wit v)) 36 - - 2 38
Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE

Directors
— Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice —BE%zt 120 - - 6 126
— Mr. Yu Pui Hang —RMBEE 120 - - 6 126
— Ms. Ren Hongyan — o EL L 300 - - 18 318
— Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (note (vij) ~ — BB &+ (KfzE i) 24 - - 1 25
686 4,516 3,060 105 8,367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8. EEM=ewm
Salaries,
allowances  Discretionary Retirement
Directors'  and benefits bonuses scheme
fees in kind (note (i) contribution Total
e
RER  BEEL RKEE
EE0E EWEN (W) % @it

HK$'000 HK$000  HK§000  HK000  HK$000
TATL TATL TAL TAL TAL

2021 —E--f
Executive Directors HITEE
— Mr. Li Wai Keung —FREBLE

(Chief Executive Offcer) (note (x)  (1TB48%) (Bizt(y) - 1,742 3,000 18 4,760
— Mr. To Hoi Pan — MM LA - 975 - 18 993
— Ms. Lee Kwai Fong —FEFLT - 520 80 18 618
Non-executive Director FHITEE
— Mr. Yu Ziyi (note (i) — RTREE (Bt 12 = = = 12

Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE

Directors
— Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice — AR T 120 - - 6 126
— Mr. Yu Pui Hang —RMBEE 120 - - 6 126
— Mr. Tung Man (note (i) — EXEE (M) 100 - - 5 105
— Ms. Ren Hongyan — I L L 50 = = 1 51
402 3,237 3,080 72 6,791
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%A

BTSRRI RE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there was no
amount paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the five
highest paid individuals as set out in note 9 below as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
And, there was no arrangement under which a director has waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Mr. Tung Man was resigned as independent non-executive director of
the Company on 1 February 2021.

Mr. Yu Ziyi was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 1 February 2021 and resigned on 9 June 2021.

Mr. Wei Qing was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 1 December 2021.

Mr. Chu Wai Tak was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 1 December 2021.

Mr. Lee Ming Yeung was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 30 September 2021.

Ms. Kwok Wai Ling was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 December 2021.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Discretionary bonuses are determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company from time to time by reference to the prevailing market
conditions, the performance of the Company as well as the individual
performance.

The remuneration of Mr. Li Wai Keung was HK$1,560,000 per annum
and has been increased to HK$3,549,000 per annum from 1 July
2021 onwards. Included in benefits in kind is a property owned by the
Group and used by Mr. Li Wai Keung as a director’s quarter.
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
(2021: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other two (2021: two) individuals are as follows:

REFMAL

REERGFMALES =2 (2%
T FZR)ESHHMN EeRE -
UTRHTME (ZE=Z—F :MA)A
TRV M AREE -

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TETT

Salaries and other emoluments FrehEMe 876 817
Discretionary bonuses BB 4L 200 200
Retirement scheme contributions RARET B 5R 36 36
1,112 1,053

The emoluments of the two (2021: two) individuals with the

ME(CE-—F MAB)RSFMAL

highest emoluments are within the following band: HETMEA TEE 2 A
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 LT 21,000,00078 7T 2 2

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
of HK$1,481,000 (2021: HK$8,677,000) and weighted
average of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue during
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 1,000,000,000
shares).

There was no difference between basic and diluted earnings
per share as the Company did not have any dilutive potential
shares outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021.

10. Bl &R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{Z —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Office

Buildings improvements  equipment
B3 BEZE  BOERG
HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

N REVERHEMYE BER

B:di]
Motor Investment
vehicles Moulds Sub-total properties Total
hE ER gt RENR Eh
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000

AT TATL Thn TAT Tin TAT T#n AT
At1 April 2020 R-8-FFMA-A
Cost A 22,983 3453 1,118 987 22,556 51,097 - 51,097
Accumulated depreciaion  Z:fHE (b,676) (1,289) (687) (987) (16,259) (24,798) - (24,798)
Net book amount FHFE 17,307 2,164 531 - 6,207 26,299 - 26,299
Year ended 31 March 2021 EZ=F--F=f=+-
RILFE

Opening netbookamount ~ EANEREF(E 17,307 2,164 531 - 6,207 26,299 - 26,299
Addtions RE = 828 6 - 4383 5217 31,698 36,915
Lease modifcation figgse 643 - - - - 643 - 643
Write-off W = (434) (178) - - 612) - 612)
Change in fairvalue of REREANRENE

investment properties WATEEY

recognised in profit or loss - - - - - - 302 302
Depreciation ik (3,751) (483) (148 - (5,988) (10,370) - (10,370)
Elimination upon write-off #8874 %1% - 159 65 - - 204 - 24
Closing net book amount ~~ EXBREFE 14,199 2,034 276 - 4,602 21,401 32,000 53401
At 31 March 2021 and R-B--£=f=1-A

1 April 2021 R=5--%mA-H
Cost A 23,626 3847 946 97 26,939 56,345 32,000 88,345
Accumulated depreciation 23T E (9.427) (1613 (670) (087) (22,047) (34,944 - (34,944
Net book amount FEFE 14,199 2,234 216 - 4692 21,401 32,000 53,401
Yearended 3 March 2022 HZ-F--FE=f=+-

158

Opening netbookamount AN F(E 14,199 2,234 216 - 4,692 21,401 32,000 53,401
Addltions RE - 1,782 176 - 2,102 4,010 461 441
Lease moification HERE 609 - - - - 609 - 609
Change in fair value of RERBERNRENED

investment properties LTEZY

recognised in profit or loss - - - - - - (461) (461)
Disposal of asubsiciary I E—FMEAR

(note 23) (Hii25) - - - - - - (32,000) (32,000)
Depreciation e (3419) (798) (119) - (4,949) (9,285) - (9,285)
Closing net book amount ~~ EREBEF(E 11,389 3,168 333 - 1,845 16,735 - 16,735
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZFZfA=1-R
Cost A 23,006 5,579 1,122 987 29,041 59,735 - 59,735
Acoumulated depreciation 2 HTE (11,617) (2411) (789) (987) (27,196) (43,000 - (43,000
Net book amount FEFE 11,389 3,168 333 - 1,845 16,735 - 16,735
Note: At 31 March 2022, the Group’s buildings which used by Mr. Li Wai Kiet: R—ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—B LEKEEAS

Keung (as a director’s quarter) with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$6,069,000 (2021: HK$6,246,000) were mortgaged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 21).

1 1 O Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022

6,069,000/ 7T ( — & — — 4F : 6,246,000/8 7T )
MARERF (AFEBEEREERES)
B FRIE NERAEEERORTRE (M
F21) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. 53 &Y¥RHMWYXE BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT BA1E)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, included in the net carrying RZE_—_FR_F-_—F=A=+—
amount of property, plant and equipment are right-of-use B st AW BERZEHEREFED
assets as follows: FRESENT:
HK$’000
FHT
Building carried at cost RS BR 2 BT
At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZFWMA—H 6,034
Lease modification HEZES 643
Depreciation for the year FAFE (3,394)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=1+—HRK
—E-_—FWm™A—H 3,283
Lease modification HEES 609
Depreciation for the year FRFE (3,061)
At 31 March 2022 RZZTZ=—F=A=+—H 831
The detalils in relation to these leases are set out in note 22. BRAZEHENF BN FE22 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. 53 &Y¥RHMWYXE BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

11.1 Fair value measurement of investment
properties
Fair value hierarchy
The fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis is categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair Value
Measurement”. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices), and not
using significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(significant unobservable inputs).

The investment properties of the Group were revalued
at the date of disposal, i.e. 28 January 2022 (2021: 31
March 2021) by AA Property Services Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer, who has
appropriate qualifications and experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The Group’s management has discussion with the
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results.

At 28 January 2022 and 31 March 2021, the Group’s

investment properties fall into Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy as described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

11.1 Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)
Information about Level 2 fair value

N REVERHEMYE BER

B
MAREVENDAFLETFEE)

BoRNFHETEHNEH

measurements
Valuation Significant Range of significant
Investment properties techniques observable inputs observable inputs Carry amount
EATEER
REME RER BAHE EXTEERAHENEE REE
At 28 January  At31March At28 January At 31 March
2022 2021 2022 2021
RZBZZf RN-T--F RIBZZF RCZ--F
-B=tAB ZA=t-A -A=+AB =ZA=+-A
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR
Hong Kong — Commercial  Direct comparison ~ Sale rate taking into account 5,700 - 6,200 5,900 - 6,200 30,000 30,000
properties approach of locations and size
(HKS/square feet)
BE—HENE ERLBE SRR R EER
MEE (Br/IAR)
Hong Kong — Carpark Direct comparison ~ Market unit sale rate taking ~ 1,900-2,200 1,880 - 2,000 2,000 2,000
approach into account of locations
(HK$'000)
Bt —RES ERLEA SRR RN TS
B EE (TAT)

The fair values of investment properties located in
Hong Kong are determined by using direct comparison
approach with reference to the market price of
comparable properties. Higher premium for investment
properties will result in a higher fair value measurement.
Relationships of significant observable inputs to fair

value are as follows:

e The higher the sale rate, the higher the fair value;

e  The higher the market unit sale rate, the higher

the fair value.

NREBENRENERAFEERE
BUBOREBE EF2EALBRYE
MHE - REVMFRERS Q¥
B EBR® EAABRE ABERE
R ERBEEMNT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{Z —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. 53 &Y¥RHMWYXE BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

11.2 Asset leased out under operating lease
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
leased out investment properties under operating
lease. The lease typically run for an initial period of 1
year, with an option to renew the lease after that date
at which time all terms are renegotiated. The lease
does not include contingent rentals. The Group has no
material direct operating expenses arising from
investment properties that generate leasing income for
the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The
investment properties were disposed on 28 January
2022 after the completion of the disposal of a
subsidiary as set out in note 25.

Total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease are receivable as follows:

BA1E)

M2 RELEHEHENEE

HE_ZT-_—F=-A=1+—HItF
B AEBRBREBECERELRKREY
¥-zEHERY—RAH—F H
AIRZABREREEEHERETE
BT EER - BETTREHAR
RBE_T__FR_FT—F=
A=+—BLFE AEBWESEX
BEELLAZREEERSBAR
BEME - REMHEERTEXNLE—
B B8 A B (ZA BT sE25FT &) B =
TZ__F—A-tN\BHE-

THHHEEEEEE THERKK
K TH & SRR FE 7O A T HA R B

2022 2021

—E-—F T4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within 1 year —F R - 16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
which affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.
The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

12. R B A RMKRE
THRENETBFELE SENARBOA
EEHHBATEE B S AE N BT
R ID AR LR -

Proportion of ownership interest

BARRESLA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation  issued and paid
Name of company and business up capital Group’s effective interest  Held by the Company Held by a subsidiary Principal activity
EMELR BRIR
NEER EXiY BRBAFE REBNERES RALTRE ANBLARRE TEER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—8-CF -E-—% -B-CE -“E--—% _—B-CE -“E--F
Amuse International Investment ~ British Virgin 1US$20,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited [slands
BREBREERAR ABEARES 20,000% 7T RERR
Amuse Luck Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BHARAR ) 1T RERR
Bestone Creative Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys
Development Limited and related products
BREZERERAR &% 100007 R RBETAR
HRER
Sentinel International o. ~ Hong Kong HK$12,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys
Limited and related products
TEHEEARAT Bk 12,0008 7 FTRHETER
BHER
Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Designand sale of toys
and related products
BETEERAA A 10,000 7T RARHEETAR
HRER
D4 Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of
toys
%) 10,0007 2 HEREHTA
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

12. RITB A RIMIRE (@)

(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
BEERRLA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and paid
Name of company and business up capital Group's effective interest  Held by the Company Held by a subsidiary Principal activity
ERALE BRAR
NRAR EXibE BERARE AEENERESR HAAREE HKEAREE TERH
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—“8--f -E--% -ZE--F -“E--% -—E--"F -E--E
Moon One Toys Co., Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of
Limited toys
A-mARRAR B 10,0007 1T HEREWTA
D4 Toys (oversea) Co., Ltd.  British Virgin US$50,000 - 100% - - - 100%  Investment holding
(‘D4 Toys oversea’) Islands
(note)
D4 Toys (oversea) Co., Ltd. ~ XE&BRES 5000057 RERR
(D4 Toys oversea |)
i)
Amuse Development Ltd. ~ British Virgin 1US$50,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Islands
BRERARAR AERAREE  S0000XTT REBR
Amuse Capital Ltd. British Virgin US$50,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Dormant
Islands
ZERAREE  50000%T HEEH
Sentinel International (US) ~ The United US$10,000 100% 100% - = 100% 100%  Domant
Company Ltd. States of
America
TEAER (XB)ARRE  XFH2ARE 10,0003 T TELH
Kai Investment Co., Ltd Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Dorment
EEREARAA &k 10,0008 7 TEXH
Note: Bifat:
D4 Toys oversea was disposed on 28 January 2022, details of the disposal D4 Toys oversea B R = FE = =F — A=+ /\B# &

& HEFBERNMEE5

are set out in note 25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

13. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

13. REE DRI ER

e B mRME

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHIT [
Cost of investments in joint ventures REEBERAINEEKRA 3,006 3,006
Share of post-acquisition loss and G B EE R EM 2 E
other comprehensive expense, net of X (&R WRE)
dividends received (3,003) (1,086)
3 1,920
Amount due to a joint venture B —HA&ERRFEA 3 3

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had interests in
the following joint ventures, all of which are considered not
individually material to the Group:

KRB —_FR-_F-_—F=ZA=+—
B AEERUATAERAITHEER
ZEANBYWEEEBHALERE M S I

TEKX:
Form of Place of
business incorporation  Particulars of issued
Name of joint venture  structure and business  and paid up capital % of interest held Principal activity
A BRTR
RERAER EBERIS REFME  BERAHE FEREEDL TERK
2022 2021
“g--F -—Z--E
Grand Amuse Incorporated  Hong Kong HK$10,000 30% 30%  Manufacturing and sale of
Development Limited productive products (including
(“Grand Amuse”) medical face masks, infrared
thermometer, disinfectant spray,
protective clothing, etc.) in Hong
Kong and the PRC markets
REZRERAR M AR SL &k 10,000 T ERBRPETSRERHEENE
WEED; Em(REBRAS MM
RER HEEE DEXE)
Gene Life Company Incorporated ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 30% 30%  Dormant

Limited (‘Gene Life")
Gene Life Company EaiAv Bk 10,000/ 7T
Limited ([ Gene Life |)

EES
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13. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

Grand Amuse and Gene Life are jointly owned by Amuse
Luck Limited and Grand View Protective Products Limited
and Amuse Luck Limited and Grand View Bio Tech Limited
respectively, for the production and sale of protective
products in Hong Kong and the PRC markets. They are
classified as joint ventures as its significant operational and
financial decisions require unanimous consent of both
shareholders.

These joint ventures had been accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using equity method.

The Group has not incurred any contingent liabilities or other
commitments relating to its investments in joint ventures.

As at 31 March 2022, the accumulated unrecognised loss
of Grand Amuse amounted to approximately HK$422,000
(2021 nil).
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13. REE L TIMER (%)

BE1E £2 Gene Life J3 2 B BB F B R A 7
MERGERRERA j&{ﬁﬁ}ﬁgﬁﬂ
AIREEEMEIRERARERES X
E &EPIFH%EE&%%% EEMA
NEEDEAREERNR AAEEAL
%&Eﬂ%& AR E —HFAE -

25 R ENA D RAEDENERE M
RERAARR-

-\‘KH nlll—

AEERERBERRNKRELEESL
ERARERE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

14. INVENTORIES 14. 78
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial @ REEFBRIARAZTERRE:
position comprise:
2022 2021
—E- —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Merchandise held for sale FE1ESH & 7 oo 2,702 1,864
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised b ERESFXNMFABZNGFESH
as an expense and included in the profit or loss is as DIHIELAT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZEREE 182,130 172,425
Write down of inventories FEMOR 428 1,078
Reversal of provision of inventories GFERE &R (946) =
181,612 173,503

15. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

15. E5ENRERERERE

2022 2021

—=E—-— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT FAETT

Trade receivables — gross B S ERGIEREE 5,834 8,829
Bills receivables — gross JEUR =5 4a R 1,771 1,651
7,605 10,480
Less: ECL allowance B TEEE E B IR (21) (4)

Trade and bills receivables — net 5 WA & e W R

TRER 7,584 10,476
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

15. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 15. E5 BN EREBRER®)
(Continued)
Ageing analysis R DM
Details of the ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of REEARBEEZ A (SRR A
ECL allowance), based on the invoice date (approximate to HiMEIM )M E S EWGIE (KR EHEER
revenue recognition date), as of the end of the reporting BB RS BRER DT IB T ¢

period are as follows:

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE
Less than 30 days LH30H 3,576 8,544
31 to 60 days 31£260H 1,526 171
61 to 90 days 61290H 414 82
Over 90 days B iB0H 297 28
5,813 8,825
Bills receivables are due within 30 to 35 days from the date FEUR Z= IR A FAZE H BB #E30235H M B Hf
of billing.
Trade debtors are due within O to 60 days from the date of 5 RWERIEN % E 0 B ET0E608 A
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit FE - BREAEBEEBRRE Z EIER
risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note 26.2. HEERBMWE ZFH BN E26.2
The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: FEHEEEERENEHNT
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
At the beginning of the year NG 4 186
ECL allowance recognised EERBREEBERE 19 2
Reversal of ECL allowance recognised ERREREEEERE
o 2) (184)
At the end of the year NG 21 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

16. OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. H {t FE W Fh1E
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Other receivables — gross H fth e R IB 4258 4,083 4,161
Less: ECL allowance B TEEE EEEEE - -
Other receivables — net H b W GRIE S F 5 4,083 4,161
Trade deposits B o%e 32,801 53,480
Rental deposits Heke 1,088 1,083
Other deposits Eiz® 71 147
Prepayments A IE 497 1,567
34,457 56,277
38,540 60,438
Less:Portion due over one year included & : 5t ASEREN B EIE Y
under non-current assets —F &S (117) (747)
38,423 59,691
Apart from the portion due over one year included under BRETAERBEERTH—FRIHE
non-current assets, all of the prepayments, deposits and 7O FRE TN IR - 12 & K A R K
other receivables are expected to be recovered or RN — F AW E KRB

recognised as expenses within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{Z —F -~ —F = A=+—HIFFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAFEFAERZERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Listed securities: EmES:

Equity securities — Hong Kong BAES — BB 3,865 5,329
The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed securites AEER EMEHFEEN QA FELEEFTE 5
has been measured as described in note 26.7. ISR FE26.7 ©

18. BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH 18. RITERRESE
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) REeERBFSEEYERE:
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Cash at bank and on hand RITNFEIBS 151,640 54,715
Bank deposits with original maturites R 2| H H A =18 A A K

within three months IRITIER - 17,328

Cash and cash equivalents in the HRERERERMRE R
consolidated cash flow statement REEED 151,640 72,043

Bank deposits with original maturities R EIH B & iE =18 A &
over three months RITTFEK - 14,918
151,640 86,961
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

18. RITER KRBT
(b) FRBAEFRELHRERENY

18. BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to

cash generated from operations: iR
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Profit before taxation B 254 A g A 3,117 12,371
Adjustments for: HIAT S IEFE
Depreciation e 9,285 10,370
COVID-19-related rent concessions BT REESHE
received (5) (219)
Interest income from bank deposits RITF T BEWA (173) (559)
Interest on bank loan RITERF B 49 63
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBHNE 59 133
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MINB ARz e (2,123) =
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of financial HEZEQAFEFTAERZE
assets at FVTPL MEEZER/ (W) 898 (49)
Fair value changes of financial assets at BATEFABRZE Fﬂ
FVTPL BEENANTEZE 38 (352)
Fair value changes of investment BREMEN N FEED
properties 461 (302)
Write-off of property, plant and WY - B R 5 A
equipment - 388
Provision/(Reversal) of ECL allowanceon & ZEWFIBELEEER
trade receivables, net B/ (BEZBR)FE 17 (182)
(Reversal)/Provision for inventories TE(BR) fE (946) 1,078
Write down of inventories WoRfF & 428 =
Write-off of other receivables 8 E At FE MR IR 774 =
Write-off of trade payables WEHE 5 e 5 E (107) =
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EAaER R ZER 1,917 1,086
13,689 23,826
Changes in working capital: LEBESEE:
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories TE (M SR (320) 307
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other ,éf &ﬁ i FE UK IR
receivables b,/ () 24,053 (10,227)
Increase in bills receivables i Hﬁl%‘féfi* n (120) (1,651)
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets at R AFE ABR
FVTPL SREERD/ ( i* m) 528 (4,928)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other B 5 K E A e 518
payables CR4d) /i (135) 2,479
Increase in contract liabilities AW EEEMN 6,716 8,083
Cash generated from operations BERMBRE 44,411 17,889

—To—ssR EReEEEReRAT 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

18. BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH (Continued) 18. RITFERREE W)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEEEAMELEBENYIER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash

TRENSEBREEHFELR
BB (DERLRIERLET) -

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing METBMELEBERREREN
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or AREBEEREE LK BRAEER L
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EHRERERTPBEAREMEETH
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows MNReRENEE-
from financing activities.
Lease liabilities Bank loan Total
HEAE BITEX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL THT
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZEENA-A 6,386 3,639 10,025
Changes from financing cash flows: BER&REEE:
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (3,251) - (3,251)
Repayment of bank loan BEFTER - (152) (152)
Interest paid BERFE (133) 63) (196)
Tote chenges fom fercing cesh fows AR RERDMEE | o 41 B 0
Other changes: Hitn 25
Interest on bank loan (note 6(a)) RITEHFIE (Hfi26) - 63 63
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a) ~ REBEFI B (#1563 133 = 133
COVID-19-related rent concessions B MWHBHEBHEL R L
received (note 5) (Ky:z5) (219) = (219)
Lease modification HEE 643 - 643
Total other changes AthEpem 857 63 620
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R=ZE--F£=A=+-HEK
—E_-FMA—A 3,559 3,487 7,046
Changes from financing cash flows: BERERESE:
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE (3,260) - (3,260)
Repayment of bank loan BEFITER - (160) (160)
Interest paid BRAF 2 (59) (49) (108)
Totd changes fom frencing cesh fows. BERSRERB@E | G319 (209) (8528
Other changes: R85
Interest on bank loan (note 6(a)) RITEHH L (fzt6) - 49 49
Interest on lease liabiliies (note 6() ~ HEBEHE (#:#6/)) 59 - 59
COVID-19-related rent concessions B MWHTEHBE LR %
received (note 5) (Hf:t5) (5) = (5)
Lease modification MEEE 609 - 609
Totelotherchanges  RfeERee® 668 9 ..
At 31 March 2022 W-ZBE-Z“f=ZA=+—-H 903 3,327 4,230
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. E5 R H B RIE

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FH&IT

Trade payables B 5 EMNFIE 4,345 4,186
Other payables and accrued expenses H e R IE R BT R X

(note) (Kiaz) 4,541 5,131

8,886 9,317

Note: Other payables and accrued expenses mainly included accrued
salaries and accrued professional fee as at 31 March 2022 of
approximately HK$992,000 (2021: HK$2,808,000) and HK$1,375,000
(2021: HK$768,000) respectively.

Ageing analysis

The Group was granted by its suppliers with credit periods
ranging from 30 — 60 days. At the end of the reporting
period, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

Mt EmENRBEREARIEZERERS
=A==t BHIZEHNFeRETEE
5 Rl1#9992,000/8 7T ( =Z =—4F : 2,808,000
77T ) %1,375,0005% 7T ( = F = —4 : 768,000
FETT) ©

MR A7
AEEBEEHEEELS T FI0E60H K
FEEH-RBEEHR REEZAHNE
S RN RIARE DT T -

2022 2021

—E_—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THT

Less than 30 days L H30H 2,522 4,049
31 to 60 days 31%260H 359 25
61 to 90 days 61%290H 100 1
Over 90 days but within one year BIBOHER—FR 1,364 111
4,345 4,186
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e PR M

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. 8 EE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHIT
Contract liabilities arising from deposits REHETAEREBERN
received from sales of toys and related BlizeEEZANAE
products 30,718 24,002

Receiving a trade deposit by the Group before the delivery
of goods gives rise to contract liabilities at the inception of a
contract, until the revenue recognised exceeds the amount
of the deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated on a
case by case basis with customers.

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year.

Revenue amounting to HK$24,002,000 (2021:
HK$15,919,000) recognised during the year ended 31
March 2022 relates to contract liabilities outstanding at the
beginning of the reporting period.

The significant increase of contract liabilities as at 31 March
2022 is mainly due to the increase in the deposits received
as a result of more manufacturing orders received from
customers during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

21. BANK LOAN

21. 8R1TER

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Portion of mortgage loan from bank AR —FANEENIRITIZBG
repayable within 1 year BERE D 157 160
Portion of mortgage loan from bank due 7B —F 14 ZI| A HIERTT
for repayment after 1 year which ERERE D - 7 ER
contains a repayable on demand clause 188 {55
— after 1 year but within 2 years — —FRERFAN 160 162
— after 2 years but within 5 years — MERERAFA 486 494
— after 5 years — RhF% 2,524 2,671
3,170 3,327
Total bank loan IRITE AT 3,327 3,487

At 31 March 2022, the bank loan is secured by mortgages
over buildings with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$6,069,000 (2021: HK$6,246,000) (note 11).

The interest rates are principally on a floating rate basis and
range from 1.37% to 1.57% (2021: 1.41% to 2.83%) per
annum during the year ended 31 March 2022.

N-ZE-_—_F=RA=+—H FITEFTMNA
B M 42186,069,0008 L (ZZE = —F:
6,246,000/ 7T ) W& F (M 5E11) IR 1B 1E
HAR o

HE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HItFE" 7
KETIZBBRGE - FHENT1.37%
21 57% (ZEBEZ—F:1.41% &
2.83% ) °
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e PR M

22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

HESE
TRIRAEBREEENH TAHE
B

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: =EEENRREE:
Due within one year R—FANEIH 826 3,109
Due in the second to fifth years RE_Z2FHFEH 83 506
909 3,615
Future finance charges on lease liabilites & BEHRKRE E B (6) (56)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEBRE 903 3,559
Present value of minimum lease payments: &K & {3 E & :
Due within one year R—F A EIH 820 3,055
Due in the second to fifth years RE_EFAFEH 83 504
Due after the fifth years RERFEZEH - =
903 3,559
Less: Portion due within one year included % : st ARBI & EE KR
under current liabilities —FREHF S (820) (3,055)
Portion due after one year included under sf AZERENE F1E 7
non-current liabilities —FREHE D 83 504
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, no lease liabilities are R-_ZT—— - —F=A=+—

effectively secured by the related underlying assets as the
rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in
the event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cash

outflows for the leases are HK$3,319,000 (2021:
HK$3,384,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 2. HESE®
Details of the lease activities HEFEFHE
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has entered into RZEZZFR=ZFE—F=H=+—
the following leases for office and retail shops. H AEEEFTUATHAERTEE
S
Types of Financial statements Range of
right-of-use items of right-of-use remaining lease
assets assets included in Number of leases  term Particulars
A% SFAEREEE
EEER W RERIEE HEHA BT EHEE #1E
Office Buildings in “property, 1(2021: 2) 0.1 year (2021: ¢ No option to renew the lease after
plant and equipment” 0.4 to 1 year) the end of the contract
MNE (% WEREHE] 1(ZT=—%:2) 01F BRI RIE T BT
HTET (ZB=—%:
0.4F1%F)
Retail shops  Buildings in “property, 4 (2021: 4) 0.1 to 1.3 years ¢ No option to renew the lease after
plant and equipment (2021:1to0 2 the end of the contract
years) EREREL BB RE
TEEHE (WE-BEERE] 4 ZT=—F:4) 01ZE1.3F e Three of the contracts contain
BHTETF (=2 =——%F: turnover rent, which will be paid if
1E26F) the monthly gross sales turnover

exceeds the monthly basic rent of
each calendar month
ZERHNTRE=NEEEXR
Me EFARHESEFER
BREBEANGRAERHE BT
PASZ A+

—ECFFR AREEERERAR
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23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23. GEMBMRARNFER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) HEMBMRREOBENABIEIE
statement of financial position represents:

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 4 A& 7 Fl 15 51 1 55
the year 2,343 3,942
Provisional profits tax paid BT ERF SR (5,216) (3,296)
(2,873) 646
Representing: RE&:
Current tax recoverable A Uy [B] BN HA R 18 (3,452) (853)
Current tax payable P& BN R AR 18 579 1,499
(2,873) 646
(b) Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised: (b) ERRELEREELEE AE:
The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities REBEEZZT__FR-T=—F=
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial A=+—HLFE HGKEUBHRLE
position and the movements during the years ended NERRELERIE (BE) /AED
31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows: D REEIAT
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
related
depreciation
EREBEH
HENE
HK$’ 000
FHET
Deferred tax arising from: EIEFTIEIRR -
At 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZFMA—H 596
Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) KB =mEt A (HaE7@) (92)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E-_—F=A=+—HK
—ZE-—FWMA—H 504
Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) KB =T A (M iE7@) (751)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H (247)

1 30 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised:

(c)

23. ZEMBRR RO AFTHR @)

(b) ERIELEHBEE AE :

(Continued) (&)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Representing: Rk
Deferred tax assets EEF B E B (425) (128)
Deferred tax liabilities B IEA R 178 632
(247) 504

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.16, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
HK$5,206,000 (2021: HK$3,907,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire
under current tax legislation.

(c) HABANELEHREEE

BB 2 16FTE M 5T BER - A%
] 0 £ gt 2 51 5 7% B 185,206,000
7T (= = — % : 3,907,000/ 7t ) i
RELERIBEE  ARANBEEBGEE
BE R R E B AR OR 2R FE SR B s A
A 2 B EEE RN K 1R
BIRTHE  ZMIBEETEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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24. EQUITY 24, =
24.1 Movements in components of equity 241 ERIHEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBHGERRT I D BT R
balances of each component of the Group’s REARNH RSN =TT E -
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated KARER I RETNEF R
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes REB)FEIBE N T XX

in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:

Retained

profits/

Share Share Merger (Accumulated
capital  premium reserve loss) Total

REBEF/

Bx ROEE SHRE (RHEBER) EH
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL AR TR TRL  TBT

Balance at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZFNA—AH
a3 10,000 66,991 155 240 77,386

Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 2 E R
expense for the year B - - - (102) (102)

Balance at 31 March2021 R=-ZB=—%&

and 1 April 2021 =A=+-HkK
—E-_-¥NMA—-AH
s 10,000 66,991 155 138 77,284

Loss and total comprehensive ~ FAEE R 2 EFH X

expense for the year fke] - - - (200) (200)
Deemed investment inathen A8 VEMm & B — il KT /B
subsidiary NEEHIRE - - - (40,113)  (40,113)

Balance at 31 March2022 R=-ZB==&
ZA=t—-HMN&& 10,000 66,991 155 (40,175) 36,971
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t —E -~ —4#=A=+—HIFE

24. EQUITY (Continued) 24, HE#= (#)
24.2 Share capital 24.2 BB
Number of
shares Amount
R4 E k|
HK$
BIT
Authorised ordinary shares of & IR E{E0.018 T HY
HK$0.01 each: EEEBER:
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZZ=ZTFEPHA—H "
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —ZE=—#=F=+—H"

—E-—FWUA—ABXK
—E-_F=RA=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000

Issued of shares: BTG :
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZ=ZZ-_ZTFWMA—H"
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —ZE-—%=A=+—H"

“E-FHEA-BR

—E-—#=H=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TERIFE A B RKETEE IR
dividends as declared from time to time and are e WEERARATARE EREFR
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the RNDE—B-EARRRIBRTEES
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard H B EERZERRFMA -

to the Company’s residual assets.

24.3 Merger reserve 2435 DA
The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount S HEENARBEERERERR AR
of the excess of the nominal value of shares of Amuse AR EERE L AR E SRR G5 E
International Investment Ltd. over the nominal value of ENEHERE MERBEREERR
shares of the Company exchanged, and the excess of AARMEEBRLRREEZRER
the nominal value of shares of Amuse International RAaE TEKREBEER AR B3
Investment Ltd. over the nominal values of shares of It A B BR AR D4 Toys Co., Limited
Bestone Creative Development Limited, Sentinel FA—ImEERAGEATEARSE
International Co. Limited, Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited, D4 BEAH—IHERBRROAEAENE
Toys Co., Limited and Moon One Toys Co., Limited Ko
exchanged as part of the Group’s reorganisation in
prior years.
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e PR M

24. EQUITY (Continued) 24, fER ()

24.4 Dividends
The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

24.5 Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders, by pricing services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Group.

During the year, the Group’s strategy in monitoring its
capital structure, which was unchanged from 2021,
was to maintain a sufficient cash level to meet its
liquidity requirements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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245 EXREE

AEBEREAN TR B ESER
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F RS AR 75 TE B M 4R S IR M B AR JE
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AEEBEBRERAENREERLE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t —E -~ —4#=A=+—HIFE

25. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 January 2022, the Group has completed the disposal
of its entire interest in D4 Toys oversea to Mr. Li Wai Keung,
an executive director of the Company, at a consideration of
HK$34,000,000. The principal activity of D4 Toys oversea is
investment holding.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of D4 Toys
oversea as at 28 January 2022, are as follows:

25. HE—EHE A

A—E-—F—F -+ N\B AEEZTK
MEEREE(RRARRITES) HEH
7 D4 Toys oversea i 2 &t RE A
34,000,000/ 7T > D4 Toys oversea H) = &
X RREER-

D4 Toys oversea R —ZE -~ —F — A
Zt+N\BEERBENEEHET

HK$’000
FHET
Investment properties (note 11) wEWME (MaF11) 32,000
Other receivables H b & WA 66
Other payables H fib &~ 308 (189)
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE 31,877
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—BHBATZWE:
Consideration received BEHRRE 34,000
Net assets disposed of BEHEFREE (31,877)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEB ARz s 2,123

Analysis of net cash inflow on disposal: HEZEERAFESN:
Consideration received in cash and cash BUWBReRRSZEMRE

equivalents 34,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHEMNHEeRASEED -

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBARZEESRAFRE 34,000
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
bills receivables, other receivables, bank deposits and cash,
listed equity investments, trade and other payables, amount
due to a joint venture, bank loan and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how the Group mitigates risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

26.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

MREREERATVETE

AEENFZRITIABREE S RER
AR R b IR  R1TTE K
EBRE  EMRARE BHREAMERN
RIE BN —RAERRRE RITEMK
LEERE REERTAFBRAMN
HARE-EZEFSR T AERNEREAK
SEMEDRE R A BERE R T X - B
EEEMEEZSARAERKLEE R

B o B 40 o

261 eRMEEREEEHR

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&ET FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost R AT RN EREE
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e W8 K e =% 7,584 10,476
Other receivables* H h pE Y kI8 5,242 5,391
Bank deposits and cash RITFEREBES 151,640 86,961
164,466 102,828
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFHEFTABEN
SREE
Listed equity investments EHRARIEE
— Hong Kong — B 3,865 5,329
168,331 108,157
Financial liabilities cMERE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAY RN ERmEsE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E b e 5E 8,886 9,317
Amount due to a joint venture B —H&ERRIFEA 3 3
Bank loan BITER 3,327 3,487
Lease liabilities HEBRE 903 3,559
13,119 16,366

*  Prepayment and trade deposits are excluded
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26. EEBEER A ETE®E)
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.2 Credit risk 262 EE =R

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer
rather than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, 45% (2021: 94%)
and 93% (2021: 95%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within O to 60 days from the date
of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

EERREHFTEREAHNAEL
EYRREEAR M BHERAORR A
SENEERRIZREEHER
FRIH

BEEWIE
rEEzEERBREEXESREF @A
RSB FTR 2 TIEX R P& EFTTE
TEIERMZE At - ERER
FEERBEEREASEHEEF
PrREZERNRRE RREHK B
SN RIBRERIS% (ZF = —
F:04% ) }M93% ( —_ T = —F:
95% ) P RIRBEAEREAREF KA
AEF o

B AEERLBBETEEER
M P EITERNE SR E - R F
TEHHTPBEI RN KL
K B RTRNFREE N X E BRI A Bk
EEFPREFPREXBREZRE
RIFWEN -BEFRYGIRANRER
HEIEETOE60B AT - —RM =
AEBTEREFREUEM S -

AEERERE2HNBEHMEEEEN
TR ERREBRMEEE S RBUK
AR EREE AR AEBHBER
EFEELRIYERRTRAER 2
MEBREAGFEEAZR R ARE
BYELTRAEFERE—TERD
ERBHHREM & 2 B ERERE -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
26.2 Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021:

NCIAL STATEMENTS

26. IEMREER AFEFE®)

262 EERR(E)
BEZEKIE(E)
TREINAEERZZEZZ2F R
T-_—F-A=-t+—HWEERR
RESERFBEHRAEEBEENE

®:

Gross
R-ZB-ZF Expected carrying Individually Loss Total
As at 31 March 2022 ZA=+-H loss rate amount impaired allowance allowance
BHERE RELE EHEHE BREE ARG
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
% FTERT THERT THERT THERT
Current (not past due) BNER (EmE) 0% 2,418 - - -
1 - 30 days past due 1 E1 E30H 0% 1,567 - - -
31 - 60 days past due #H31E60H 0% 1,509 - - -
61 - 90 days past due #H61ZE90H 0% 22 = = =
More than 90 days past due & H3#8 3B90H 6.0% 318 @ (19) (21)
5,834 (2) (19) (21)

Gross
AZEZ—F Expected carrying  Individually Loss Total
As at 31 March 2021 =A=+—H loss rate amount impaired  allowance  allowance
BHEEEX RELE @ERRE BEEE BEE
%  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
% FAET FAET FAET FAET
Current (not past due) BNER (EmH) 0% 8,399 = = =
1 - 30 days past due #H1ZE30H 0% 165 = = =
31 - 60 days past due #H31Z60H 0% 150 = = =
61 — 90 days past due #H#1615290H 0% 83 - - -
More than 90 days past due & Hi 1B90H 6.0% 32 @) @) )
8,829 (2 (2 ()

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B{2 —F - —F = =+—HIFF/Z

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.2 Credit risk (Continued)

26. IEEMREERAFETFE®

262 =ERME)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bills
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances and cash. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group would make periodic
collective and individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records and past experience
and current external information and adjusted to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information,
including the default rate where the relevant debtors
operates. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In these regards, the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits are considered to be low.
Besides, the management is of opinion that there is no
significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables and deposits since initial recognition as the
risk of default is low and they are in Stage 1 category
with no significant change in credit risk and, thus, the
ECL for other receivables and deposits are minimal
under the 12-month ECL method.

The credit risks for bills receivables, bank balances and
short-term bank deposits are considered negligible as

Hit iz A DI R0 £ Bl A =
Hpm@ER AN REER
REKER B RKRIA RS M
RITEBIRE /B EERRER
RIE AEEEEEEREBESN
EHERAELBRIARRAINEE R
5 H A 8 WO TR S 3% & 10 BT R
B (B R A 1T E HIRHE - AW AE
T B LA RBRBEE A RTRE L EHL (B
EHEBEBALEERTHNED
) AEEFTEMEBERRF A
FERERERBRAE TR MR B B B (E 75 - 3L
HmE AERFERRENEES
REEE SR I EEEBR R
FHMEWRERRENETERR
B ZERARL RBEEEN BAH
ERNRRELABRNEERRESK
HEN ) F — B BUR R B H AR
WRERZEENEAREEEERE
12 ABRMEEBRASEBMT
Hige

IR - RITEBR R HRRITER
MEERRBESM N EE A%

the counterparties are reputable banks. FHAEAEEENRIT
26.3 Liquidity risk 263 RENE S E

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

—ECFFR AREEERERAR

AEENBRAEREERDES
FREETIEERHNIEN  BRAE
KERReRBERIENBHER
HRPAREER NENEH K
RS ESH R
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

26. IEEMREERAFETFE®

FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group’s liquidity position and compliance with loan
covenants are monitored closely by the management
of the Group. The following table details the Group’s
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at the end

of the reporting period. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group

263 REBESEMR(E)
AEENRBESHKARERZH
BFERAASETEERYER
TRFNAEERREBFRSHE
BERE LR BIER - BESIRTIIRIE
AEEAgHERNHRHOKE B
ErNcRBERUNRRERER
o HENKRBENERAETRE

can be required to pay. The table includes both interest * °
and principal cash flows.
Over
Within one year Carrying
oneyearor but within amount at
ondemand  two years Total  Discount 31 March
R=A
R-FR  -FNt Er=[
FREX EMENR @ B8 HRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THT THTL T
2022 —E-CE
Bank loan subject to repayment on WHEERER
demand clauses: scheduled [ERERITER:
repayments (notg) RTER (M) 3,327 - 3,327 = 3,327
Trade payables B HEMNFA 4,345 - 4,345 - 4,345
Amount due to a joint venture EN—FHeEATRE 3 - 3 - 3
Other payables and accrued expenses T ZIB R fER B B 4,541 - 4,541 - 4,541
Lease liabilties HEAR 826 83 909 (6) 903
13,042 8 13125 @ 13119
2021 kSl
Bank loan subject to repayment on MERERESR
demand clauses: scheduled BFRRTER:
repayments (note) BEER (ML) 3,487 - 3,487 - 3,487
Trade payables BAENFE 4,186 - 4,186 - 4,186
Amount due to a joint venture ER—MAaEARNE 3 - 3 - 3
Other payables and accrued expenses ~ E M B FUE R B & 5,131 - 5,131 - 5,131
Lease liabilities BEARE 3,109 506 3,615 (56) 3,559
15,916 506 16,422 (56) 16,366
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Bank loan with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Within 1 year or on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank loan amounted to HK$3,327,000 (2021: HK$3,487,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such bank loan will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are
set out in the table below:

Maturity analysis — Bank loan with a repayment on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments

26. IEMREER AFETE®)

263 REESE(E)

B B4R B Sk E B AR SRFT B RET A £t B 87
AAMH [R—FAXRER] BER -R=F
ZZE=A=+—H ZSRITEROHRUR
N& 4% 53,327,000 T (T = —&:
3,487,000 T ) ° &£ & B A K B i B sk A
EERBBATKARETELRBENERT
MER-EERE RSRITERBRIEER
EMENFETERARESE FEFBERR
T

REBEERNIPAIN — HEFRERMHE
BIERANRITER

More than More than
Within one year two years Total
one year or but within but within More than undiscounted Carrying
on demand two years five years five years amount amount
R—FRR —FHE MEUL
RER EMF AR BEREFUR BEERE REERABEE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAET FHT FAET FHET
31 March 2022
—E__f=H=+—H 209 209 628 3,078 4,124 3,327
31 March 2021
—T-—F=A=+—H 209 209 627 3,198 4,243 3,487

26.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
loan, bank balances and lease liabilities. Lease liabilities
bearing fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. Borrowings issued and bank balances
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its variable
rate borrowings and manages the contractual terms of
the interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s
interest rate profile of the interest bearing financial
liabilities as monitored by management is set out
pelow.

—ECFFR AREEERERAR

26.4 F| ==

MEREBRALHIAENATFESAR
KR 28 KA ™SR ZE SR
HHER AKENFXEREZR
RIRTTEF RITEREHERE
REEMXFENHERBESAS
BAEZAFENXRER - FREER
RITERTAEEARRESRERN
KR ARBERETSEEKF
REBFEERABENAOKER X
SEHEEEERNTESRAE
MEHEEHNR T
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)

26. IEEMREERAFETFE®

26.4 R EE R (E)

Interest rate profile FIFAE
2021
—E-—F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERFE &8 ERF = Gk
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Variable rate borrowings: FEEH:
Bank loan |ITEK 3,327 1.84% 3,487
Sensitivity analysis BRE 747

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit after taxation
and retained profits by approximately HK$14,000
(2021: HK$15,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not be affected in response to a general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised
impact on the Group’s interest expense that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the secured bank loan which exposes
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk at that date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2021.

1 42 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022

RZEBE——F=A=+—8 {FHrFl
REEE R TRSOMES - EME
HihBERFIEHNBERT  ~EEH
BIBR B 1805 B AR BB BT iR > 18
m#14,0008 c (ZF = —F:
15,000/ 70) - HAth 45 & #E 2= 3 9 1%
T AR EEE FATREMSE

B/ 48R
&

R % T R B B A 3R 45 B R I B A 5%
£ TEARZBASBEEBRREESR
ENERBZBERMERITERLE £
MEREDMBRAEREHIE®N
FERINEELLEE - ERONIK
ZE - F 7 AREEETT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26. EEBEER A ETE®E)

FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.5 Foreign currency risk

26.5 i [E B

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to
this risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”),
Euros (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“‘JPY”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”).

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in HK$, translated
using spot rate at the year end date.

SNEERIEERMIANATFERK
KESREKRNEXZEHMKE D
R -AEEEH 2 E¥ERBREER
BREEMmESZBEFIR  EHHR
BEBR TS ZFHBRINE
(R BZAFEBZINEEEIAINZ
E¥)E-ELARRRZERE
Erxmx(lxmxl]) BT ([E
7T BE(TRRDEARE (TA
R%1) -

EE 2z EHER
TRFANASERBERRAFH
ERZEEENIINZEREZ
ERREEXABMELEZERR
R ARBRAREAEZSBDRFES
HRZAMEXRBE DB AER
512 R e

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HK$)

EZMSEREE (BB TE25])

2022
—E-_—F
USD EUR JPY RMB
ET B =] ARY
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FEx FTEx TER
Trade and other receivables & 5 K £ ftb & W 5018 23,452 36 952 3,471
Cash and cash equivalents 3R & MRS EEY 56,900 113 5,657 7,244
Trade and other payables B 5 K EH eI 5RE (1,941) - (2,345) (24)
Net exposure arising from  ERREERAE
recognised assets and FEE 4 2 B8
liabilities 78,411 149 4,264 10,691
—Eo—gaR EReEERAR2E 143




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
26.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

26. IEEMREERAFETFE®

26.5 ShEEELBR (48)

HRE 2 EEE R (E)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HK$)

AR RINER R (AABTZ5)

2021
—E-—fF
USD EUR JPY RMB
T BT = AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEL FET FHET FEL
Trade and other receivables & 5 K £ fth & g 2038 46,991 38 171 335
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIHEZEEY 29,539 119 23 6,922
Trade and other payables 5 R E b fE A ) = = =
Net exposure arising from  ERREERBEM
recognised assets and EEERFE
liabilities 76,521 157 194 7,257
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and
other components of consolidated equity that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. As the HK$ is pegged to
the USD, the Group does not expect any significant
movements in the USD/HK$ exchange rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26. EEBEER A ETE®E)

FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

26.5 M EL B (48)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BBE 7 HT(18)
2022 2021
—E-C— T
Effect on Effect on
profit after profit after
Appreciation taxand Appreciation tax and
of foreign retained of foreign retained
currency rate profits currency rate profits
HERBZ HIRBIE
B R ARE i ) K AR B
EXAHE BEINKE EXAE ARINTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET THTT
EUR BT 5% 6 5% 7
JRY H 5% 178 5% 8
RMB AR 5% 446 5% 3083

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated to the HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2021.

ER2NZDMGERBET EEE
ERNEBAIEEREEZBRBR
AR RS RTE GETEIN
BEPRZEXBLERETZ

BRESMIHBREXREFHEAR
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EEOME T - —F7HREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26. EEBREER A ETE®E)

FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.6 Equity price risk 26.6 B E &by

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in listed equity securities. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 March 2022 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$323,000 (2021:
HK$445,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity securities listed in Hong Kong.

26.7 Fair value measurement

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial
assets and liabilities into three levels based on the
observability and significance of inputs to the fair value
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

26.7

AREBHRIKE EHRARESMmE
HEERR AEEZRERREE
ETRBEMARZAAR AR
BZRATA -EREEBEFTH
[\ B K Bl R 1) 42 B AR & B IRt AL

HRED
R TERESNMIRERSE BN
BABERR T

WMERAITAEBE LA/ TEKI0%
ZEZ—F:10%)  AIFB TR
AEHQAFEEHERHE-T
T —FZA=+—BLFEKRFE
i A % 38 0, R 2> #9323,0005% 7T
(ZZT——4: 4450008 7TC) °

DV EFE

TREJRBATFEERNGESE Y
BIRAKREBEAFEAENEREE
A -eRMEENRABRETER
FEMBBABENAIEERER
REREANDA=M A FEERE
AT &4

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—H: HEAEERBERERET
for identical assets and liabilities. HHRE CREFHE) -
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included FH: REEXABMEEEX

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset

RZABENEARE (5

or liability, either directly or indirectly, and not — R NBIERIRERIN)
using significant unobservable inputs. MABRABATAER
A B o

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset

or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% —E -~ —4#=H=+—HIFF/ZE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 26. EEBEER A ETE®E)

FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

26.7 Fair value measurement (Continued)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to
the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis are grouped into the fair value hierarchy
as follows:

26.7 X {EHFTEE)
TREEXBEERMERANR
FERBENDERGRAFEFERSR
EXREENREEBREARIE-

RiFaMBARRARFALEEREE
BATEFENEREESRALRYF
BERERINT :

2022
—E-=

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& -t E=H Mgt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FTET FTEx FER

Financial assets at FVTPL &2 F{Eit AEB#H

ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — IR AR E
— Hong Kong —&BB 3,865 - - 3,865
2021
=4

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— FR E=8 Bt
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET R FAT FAET

Financial assets at FVTPL &2 F{Eit AB#H

ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — I IE AR E

— Hong Kong — &8 5,329 - - 5,329

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).

BHE_T_—_F=ZA=+—HLFE 5
—REE R EWEE R R A S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 27T. BEFTNEARS
TRANSACTION
(a) Key management personnel remuneration @ EEEEASHMH

AEBTZEBABNEM (2R
S BESN TARREZTNE

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s

. . . . BE)HHAT
directors as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FABTT
Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 8,262 6,719
Post-employment benefits g Rl 105 72
8,367 6,791
(b) Balance with related parties (b) HEAEFWEER
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET AT
Amount due to a director included in 5+ A E fib & (< ZUIE #Y & £~
other payable (note) BERIE (M) 616 616
Amount due to a joint venture (note) B —EEaERRRIE
(BtaE) 3 3
Note: The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on et : %%%%EHE -2 BBRRERE
demand. =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % —ZF ——

FINANCIAL POSITION

28. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

F=A=+—HILFE

28. A 7] B H B AR R &

2022 2021
—E-= B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
H et FBET FAT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidlaries RMBRREMESE 938 933
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE B B A B FIE 41,652 76,962
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEED 50 5,053
41,702 82,015
Current liabilities REBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTH B A Rk 5,624 5,624
Other payables and accrued expenses  H 4 B~ 778 & fE 51
. . . U 40
... 5664 5664
Net current assets REBEEZE 36,038 76,351
Net assets BEEFE 36,971 77,284
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital A& AR 24.2 10,000 10,000
Share premium B An s (8 24.1 66,991 66,991
Merger reserve Ot 155 155
(Accumulated loss)/Retained profits (REHEBR) REBAEF 241 (40,175) 138
Total equity BRER 36,971 77,284

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 28 June 2022.

EEeN_E-_—_FXA-TN\BHE

I 45 4 )3 o

LI Wai Keung

=g
Director

EF

TO Hoi Pan

e
Director

EF

—ECFFR AREEERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR M

29.

30.

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2022, the directors consider the Company’s
immediate parent and ultimate controlling party to be Infinite
Force Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and Mr. Li Wai Keung, respectively.
Infinite Force Holdings Limited does not produce financial
statements for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
On 25 April 2022, Amuse Luck Limited entered into an
equity transfer agreement with Ms. Chu Guigui (“Vendor A”)
and Mr. Zhu Rongzheng (“Vendor B”, and together with
Vendor A, the “Vendors”) pursuant to which Amuse Luck
Limited agreed to acquire 30% equity interests in Guangzhou
Mobile Medical Circle Network Technology Co., Ltd from the
Vendors for an consideration of HK$10,000,000 (the
“Acquisition”). Details of the acquisition have been set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 25 April 2022.

On 5 May 2022, the Acquisition has been completed. Upon
the completion, the consideration of HK$10,000,000 was
fully settled and discharged by the allotment and issue a total
of 192,307,692 new shares of the Company (the
“Consideration Shares”), representing approximately 16.13%
of the issued share capital of the Company (as enlarged by
the issue of the Consideration Shares), have been duly
allotted and issued as fully paid to the Vendors, at the issue
price of HK$0.052 each. Details of the completion of the
Acquisition and issue of Consideration Shares has been set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 5 May 2022
and 17 May 2022.
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29.

30.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

E S

120 Texaco Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories
and a carpark No. 7
located at 1 Floor

EW International Tower
120 Texaco Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

157 - 257 « 358
KAk THE=
RAIRETREE
=T & E1205%
ZREEHLEZ
FTHREN

—ECFFR AREEERERAR

Percentage interest  Floor Area Usage as at
No. Property of the Group (sq.ft) 31 March 2022
R-B-ZF
BEE® =A=+-H
min M rEEGEEREEZESE (FAR) ZAE
2022 2021 [ ]
B —_T-—4F
1 Flat C on 59th Floor of Tower 2 575 100% 100% 744 Director’s quarter
The Dynasty MARE EERES
No. 18 Yeung Uk Road 1B EE185%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories el
Hong Kong 2FESQIECE
2 Workshop No. 1 on 14/F B 100% 100% 1,759  Warehouse
Wang Lung Industrial Building MAEE BE
No. 11 Lung Tak Street BEEE115R
Tsuen Wan, New Territories rELEXNE
Hong Kong 1412157 E ]
3 Workshops No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 MR REE - 100% 6,808  Investment
and No. 4 located at 28 Floor BT hBE1205% properties
EW International Tower ZREBHN28IE BEWE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
DUE R

A Summary of the results and of the assets and liabilites of the AEBRBER AT BEENEEAREE
Group for the last five financial years extracted from the audited R EE (FExELEEXTHHRER) M2 0T -
financial statements, is as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
R CF T F ZFIFF T NF ZFN\F
HK$'000 HK$O000 HK$000 HKEO000  HK$'000
TR TET THET THET THET

Revenue W 2% 216,485 211,467 206,965 182,583 132,025
Cost of sales $HE R A (181,612) (173,503) (164,783) (137,423 (95,733)
Gross profit EA 34,873 37,964 42,182 45,160 36,292
Operating expenses RS (31,756) (25,593) (30,858) (24,661) (15,522)
Profit before tax B %% A s A 3,117 12,371 11,324 20,499 20,770
Income tax expenses PSR (1,636) (3,694) (3,874) (5,378) (3,860)
Profit for the year FREFA 1,481 8,677 7,450 15,121 16,910
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted HARK #5

(in HK cents) (LABALET) 0.15 0.87 0.75 1.58 2.25
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Non-current assets ERBEE 17,280 56,196 27,627 26,857 25,408
Current assets MENEE 207,666 165,174 177,331 162,892 66,385
Current liabilities mEAaE 44,333 41,363 31,223 26,208 20,891

Total assets less current BEERAREBAER

liabilities 180,613 180,007 173,735 163,541 71,402
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 261 1,136 3,541 771 770
Net assets EEFE 180,352 178,871 170,194 162,770 70,632
Equity =

Share capital [N 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 =
Reserves e 170,352 168,871 160,194 152,770 70,632
Total equity A RERS 180,352 178,871 170,194 162,770 70,632
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